brought to you by 🕌 CORE ded by Archivio istituzionale della ricerca - Università di Modena e Reggio Emilia

**J**HEP\_

Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: December 5, 2018 ACCEPTED: March 22, 2019 PUBLISHED: April 8, 2019

# $\mathrm{U}(N)$ Yang-Mills in non-commutative space time

Naser Ahmadiniaz,<sup>a</sup> Olindo Corradini,<sup>b,c</sup> James P. Edwards<sup>d</sup> and Pablo Pisani<sup>e</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Center for Relativistic Laser Science, Institute for Basic Science, 61005 Gwangju, Korea
<sup>b</sup> Dipartimento di Scienze Fisiche, Informatiche e Matematiche, Università degli Studi di Modena e Reggio Emilia, Via Campi 213/A, I-41125 Modena, Italy
<sup>c</sup> INFN, Sezione di Bologna, Via Irnerio 46, I-40126 Bologna, Italy
<sup>d</sup> Instituto de Física y Matemáticas, Universidad Michoacana de San Nicolás de Hidalgo, Edificio C-3, Apdo. Postal 2-82, C.P. 58040, Morelia, Michoacán, México
<sup>e</sup> Instituto de Física La Plata, CONICET-UNLP, C.C. 67 (1900) La Plata, Argentina
E-mail: ahmadiniaz@ibs.re.kr, olindo.corradini@unimore.it,

jedwards@ifm.umich.mx, pisani@fisica.unlp.edu.ar

ABSTRACT: We present an approach to  $U_*(N)$  Yang-Mills theory in non-commutative space based upon a novel phase-space analysis of the dynamical fields with additional auxiliary variables that generate Lorentz structure and colour degrees of freedom. To illustrate this formalism we compute the quadratic terms in the effective action focusing on the planar divergences so as to extract the  $\beta$ -function for the Yang-Mills coupling constant. Nonetheless the method presented is general and can be applied to calculate the effective action at arbitrary order of expansion in the coupling constant and is well suited to the computation of low energy one-loop scattering amplitudes.

KEYWORDS: Effective Field Theories, Gauge Symmetry, Non-Commutative Geometry

ARXIV EPRINT: 1811.07362

# Contents

1	Introduction	1
<b>2</b>	Yang-Mills on non-commutative space-tir	ne 4
	2.1 Moyal space-time	4
	2.2 Yang-Mills theory	5
	2.3 Effective action	6
	2.4 Background field method quantisation	7
	2.5 Heat-trace representation in the worldline	formalism 8
3	Auxiliary worldline fields	11
	3.1 Auxiliary colour fields	12
	3.2 Auxiliary spin fields	13
	3.3 The worldline representation of the effective	ve action 15
4	Planar divergences of the effective action	
	4.1 Single vertex insertion	17
	4.1.1 Terms quadratic in $A$	18
	4.2 Double vertex insertion	19
<b>5</b>	Parameter integrals and the $\beta$ -function	
	5.1 One-point function	22
	5.2 Two-point function	22
	5.3 The $\beta$ -function	23
6	Discussion	24
A	Some group identities	26
в	<b>3</b> Worldline Green functions	27

# JHEP04 (2019)067

# 1 Introduction

In the present manuscript our focus is on advancing some new calculational methods for non-commutative gauge field theories. These gauge field theories are defined in a spacetime endowed with a non-commutative product, which we take to be the familiar Moyal product. Such theories become non-local when this Moyal product is applied to fields [1-3]and appear naturally in some quantum mechanical models and string theory [4-7]. This feature of non-locality, along with the presence of an intrinsic minimal length scale, make non-commutative field theories mimick some aspects of theories of quantum gravity [8], which is one of the main reasons why they still draw quite some attention in the literature. Due to the presence of so-called UV/IR mixing [9], which involves non-planar diagrams and may affect the (non)renormalisability of such theories, of particular interest are the renormalisation properties of non-commutative gauge field theories, and thus of their one-loop effective actions. This is a prototypical example of a study which can be performed using first-quantised, or *worldline*, techniques. Indeed, it has been shown that non-commutative field theories are linked to phase-space worldline path integrals. This was developed in [10, 11] for (complex-) scalar field theories and in [12, 13] for a U(1) gauge theory.

The worldline formalism was initially developped as an efficient tool to obtain oneloop QCD amplitudes and effective actions [14, 15], but has by now become a well established approach to performing numerous computations in various Quantum Field Theories (QFT) [16]. Originally inspired by string theory, it provides a first quantised approach to QFT that in many cases demonstrates superior calculational efficiency and better manifests gauge invariance. In the area of non-Abelian QFTs some examples where first quantised approaches have been used as the main working tool include strong-coupling expansions [17, 18], multi-loop effective actions [19], the spinning particle approach to Yang Mills amplitudes [20–24], as well as to the Standard Model physics [25] and to Grand Unified scenarios [26].

In this work we develop a phase-space worldline model to study the one-loop effective action of U(N) Yang-Mills (YM) theories on *D*-dimensional (Euclidean) non-commutative spacetime that provides a completely first-quantised representation of the one-loop effective action of a non-Abelian vector field, combining and extending recent advances in the worldline description of colour and spin degrees of freedom [23, 24, 27]. In this way, the additional information about both colour and spin degrees of freedom will appear as path integrals over auxiliary variables. A significant advantage of this approach is that it is no longer necessary to carry out the path ordering usually required to deal with matrix valued potentials that enter the worldline action since this prescription is produced automatically by integration over the auxiliary variables.

Moreover, we shall demonstrate that our approach unifies contributions from the "gauge sector" (associated to the physical degrees of freedom of the vector field) and the "ghost sector" (that maintains gauge invariance) into a single model — selection of each sector is achieved by simply fixing a Chern Simons level in a path integral over further auxiliary variables. Thus the extended worldline model seems to be a useful and general approach to describing all aspects of our calculations in a democratic manner. From this final worldline representation we extract the  $U_{\star}(N)$   $\beta$ -function from the field theory two-point function as a simple application and verification of our model.

Following this philosophy, our main result is that, upon applying the background field method, the one-loop effective action for a U(N) Yang-Mills field on Moyal space-time can be written as a difference of two terms that represent the contribution from the gauge sector and the ghost sector respectively, *viz*.

$$\Gamma[A] = \Gamma[A]_{1,1} - 2\Gamma[A]_{1,0}, \qquad (1.1)$$

where

$$\Gamma[A]_{\varrho,r} := -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty \frac{dT}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} T^{1+\frac{D}{2}}} \int \mathscr{D}p \oint \mathscr{D}x \oint \mathscr{D}[\bar{\psi},\psi] \oint \mathscr{D}[\bar{c},c] \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\varphi}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} \times \exp\left(-S_{\varrho,r}[p,x,\bar{\psi},\psi,\bar{c},c,\varphi,\vartheta]\right).$$
(1.2)

The integral over T is the Schwinger proper time integral familiar in worldline calculations, whilst p and x represent the momentum and coordinates of the embedding of periodic point particle trajectories in (commutative) Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^D$ . Following this, the conjugate pairs  $\bar{\psi}$  and  $\psi$  and  $\bar{c}$  and c are auxiliary Grassmann worldline fields that produce the Hilbert spaces associated to the spin and colour degrees of freedom. Finally, the modular integrals over  $\varphi$  and  $\vartheta$  are what remain after gauge fixing local unitary symmetries associated to the spin and colour fields. These integrals act to project onto the subspace of the Hilbert space associated to spin r forms and the fully anti-symmetric U(N) representation with dimension  $\varrho$  through Chern-Simons terms in the worldline action

$$S_{\varrho,r}[p,x,\bar{\psi},\psi,\bar{c},c,\varphi,\vartheta] = \int_0^1 dt \left[ -ip \cdot \dot{x} + p^2 + \bar{c}^a \dot{c}_a + \bar{\psi} \cdot \dot{\psi} + TV_a^{\ b} \left( \bar{c}^a c_b + \frac{1}{2} \delta^a_b \right) + \\ -2iT \bar{\psi}^{\mu} (\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu})_a^{\ b} \psi^{\nu} \left( \bar{c}^a c_b + \frac{1}{2} \delta^a_b \right) + i\vartheta \left( \bar{c}^a c_b - n \right) + i\varphi \left( \bar{\psi} \cdot \psi - s \right) \right].$$

$$(1.3)$$

Here  $n \equiv \rho - \frac{N^2}{2}$  and  $s \equiv r - \frac{D}{2}$  are the Chern-Simons levels that are all that is needed to distinguish the different sectors,  $V[A]_a{}^b$  is a potential representing the orbital coupling of the vector field and  $(\mathcal{F}[A]_{\mu\nu})_a{}^b$  a potential for the spin coupling, both of whose forms we shall give below. The auxiliary fields remove the need to path order the exponential in  $\Gamma[A]_{\rho,r}$ , as we shall explain in section 3.

To illustrate our method we expand the effective action to quadratic order in the vector field, which is sufficient to determine the  $\beta$ -function of the theory. Since the divergences of the non-planar diagrams are interpreted as IR divergences, they do not affect the behaviour of the  $\beta$ -function, which is solely determined by UV-divergent planar diagrams; for this reason we disregard non-planar contributions and content ourselves with the computation of planar ones. The divergent contribution to the change in the bare action from the sum of planar contributions from the gauge sector and the ghost sector (in D = 4, with  $\frac{1}{2g^2}$ denoting the bare coupling and with  $\Lambda$ , m UV- and IR-cut-offs) is

$$\delta S = -\frac{1}{2g^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} dx \, \frac{11N}{48\pi^2} g^2 \log\left(\frac{\Lambda^2}{m^2}\right) \left\{ A^a_\mu(x) \left(-\delta_{\mu\nu} \,\partial^2 + \partial_\mu \partial_\nu\right) A^a_\nu(x) \right\},\tag{1.4}$$

from which follows the  $\beta$ -function from the running of the coupling constant:

$$\beta(g) = -\frac{11N}{48\pi^2}g^3.$$
 (1.5)

This is in agreement with previous calculations [28, 29] and verifies our worldline approach yields the correct result. However we argue that the unification of both sectors into a single worldline theory that enables an efficient determination of the Feynman diagrams contributing at each order is a notable step in the development of this approach to QFT.

We organise the manuscript as follows. In section 2 we use the background field method to extract from the YM action the quadratic operators for the YM fields and for the Faddeev-Popov ghosts following from a gauge fixing. The functional integrals over the quantum fields yield the one-loop effective action, which we represent in terms of a heat-trace and thus in terms of a phase-space worldline path integral. In section 3 we introduce some auxiliary worldline fields which are helpful in the perturbative expansion of the effective action: their quantisation reproduces the desired representation of the gauge group and of the Lorentz group, and avoids the needs for a path ordering prescription. In the remaining parts of the manuscript we use the phase-space particle model to compute one- and two-point functions and evaluate the one-loop  $\beta$ -function of the theory. We end this paper with conclusions and an outlook in section 6. In appendix A we collect some useful group identities involving the structure constants and appendix B contains the derivation of the worldline Green functions for gauge and ghost fields and some of their expectation values for completeness.

# 2 Yang-Mills on non-commutative space-time

Here we define the Moyal space-time and the  $U_{\star}(N)$  YM theory that we study on this space. We will consequently calculate its one-loop effective action using the background field method.

#### 2.1 Moyal space-time

In a *D*-dimensional Euclidean Moyal space time, the usual space-time coordinates,  $x^{\mu}$ , are replaced by operators,  $\hat{x}^{\mu}$ , for which the fundamental commutator is introduced,

$$[\hat{x}^{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] = i\theta^{\mu\nu}, \tag{2.1}$$

where the constant, real, skew-symmetric matrix  $\theta^{\mu\nu}$  represents the non-commutativity parameters [1, 2]. This relation presents itself in various areas of quantum mechanics and string theory [4, 6].

There is a well-known correspondence between the non-commuting operators,  $\hat{x}^{\mu}$ , and an algebra of functions on  $\mathbb{R}^{D}$  under a non-commuting product exhibited by the Weyl symbol

$$\hat{\mathcal{O}}[f] = \int_{\mathbb{R}^D} dx \, f(x) \hat{\Delta}(x);$$
$$\hat{\Delta}(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^D} \frac{dk}{(2\pi)^D} \, e^{ik \cdot \hat{x}} e^{-ik \cdot x}.$$
(2.2)

This map can be used to define the Moyal  $\star$ -product [30, 31] from the product of two Weyl operators evaluated in position space

This product is just a deformation of the familiar algebra of functions [32] on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (for discussion of non-commutative space described in polar coordinates see [33–35]) and makes use of a common notation where derivatives act in the direction of their overhead arrows. In Fourier space the Moyal product of a number of functions of the operators  $\hat{x}_i$  reads<sup>1</sup>

$$\mathcal{F}(\phi_1 \star \phi_2 \star \ldots)(p) = \int \prod_i d\bar{p}_i \ \bar{\delta}(\sum_i p_i - p) \ \tilde{\phi}_1(p_1) \ \tilde{\phi}_2(p_2) \ldots \ e^{-i\sum_{i< j} p_i \cdot \theta \cdot p_j} .$$
(2.4)

This allows us to define a field theory action for pure Yang-Mills theory on Moyal space-time based upon ordinary fields but with a deformed product.

Non-commutativity in momentum space is encompassed in the twisting factor  $e^{-i\sum_{i < j} p_i \cdot \theta \cdot p_j}$ . This non-polynomial combination of incoming momenta at the vertex is responsible for the non-locality of the interaction. Notice also that the twisting factor is absent in the Moyal product of only two fields; for this reason, non-commutativity has no effect on quadratic expressions so it does not affect propagators but rather only interaction terms. This property also implies that the Moyal product is invariant under cyclic permutation of the fields, which considerably reduces the number of interaction terms in the construction of non-commutative generalisations of commutative theories.

#### 2.2 Yang-Mills theory

To define our theory we introduce a one-form,  $A_{\mu} = A^a_{\mu}T^a$ , valued in the fundamental representation of the Lie algebra u(N) with generators  $\{T_a\}$ , and its field strength tensor

$$F_{\mu\nu} = i \, [D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}]_{\star} = \partial_{\mu} A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu} A_{\mu} - i \, [A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}]_{\star} \,, \tag{2.5}$$

where  $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - iA_{\mu}$  is the covariant derivative and  $\star$  indicates that the Moyal product is to be used for multiplication. Using<sup>2</sup>

$$T^{a}T^{b} = \frac{1}{2}(if^{abc} + d^{abc})T^{c}, \qquad (2.8)$$

the components of the field-strength tensor read

$$F^{a}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A^{a}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A^{a}_{\mu} - \frac{i}{2} d^{abc} \left[A^{b}_{\mu}, A^{c}_{\nu}\right]_{\star} + \frac{1}{2} f^{abc} \left\{A^{b}_{\mu}, A^{c}_{\nu}\right\}_{\star}.$$
 (2.9)

This field strength tensor transforms covariantly under the gauge field transformation

$$A_{\mu}(x) \to U \star A_{\mu} \star U^{-1} + i U \star \partial_{\mu} U^{-1} , \qquad (2.10)$$

<sup>1</sup>In this notation  $\mathcal{F}(\phi) = \tilde{\phi}, \ \bar{\delta} = (2\pi)^D \delta$  and  $d\bar{p} = dp/(2\pi)^D$ .

<sup>2</sup>From here one can read off the defining (anti-)commutators of the Lie algebra

$$[T^a, T^b] = i f^{abc} T^c, \ a = 0, \dots, N^2 - 1$$
(2.6)

$$\{T^a, T^b\} = d^{abc}T^c \tag{2.7}$$

where the structure constants  $f^{abc}$  are completely anti-symmetric whilst the  $d^{abc}$  are fully symmetric. The "time-like" component is the U(1) generator  $T^0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2N}}\mathbb{1}$ , and we have  $f^{ab0} = 0$  and  $d^{ab0} = \delta^{ab}\sqrt{2/N}$ .

where

$$U = e_{\star}^{i\alpha(x)} = 1 + i\alpha(x) - \frac{1}{2}\alpha(x) \star \alpha(x) + \dots$$
 (2.11)

and  $\alpha(x) = \alpha^a(x) T^a$  is Lie-algebra valued.

An action that is invariant under the symmetry transformation (2.10) is

$$S[A] = \frac{1}{2g^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^D} dx \, \text{tr} \left( F_{\mu\nu} \star F_{\mu\nu} \right)$$
(2.12)

where  $g^2$  is the bare coupling constant, and the trace is computed in the fundamental representation of the gauge group. Note that the field strength tensor given in (2.5) means that the anti-commutator of the gauge group algebra enters the action alongside the commutator familiar in commutative space. This means that we require the Lie algebra of the generators in the chosen representation to close under anti-commutation, which is not the case for SU(N); the simplest extension compatible with this requirement is the U(N) group which we study for the remainder of this article. For a similar analysis of the Super-Yang-Mills theory in non-commutative space we refer to the analysis of [36].

#### 2.3 Effective action

Since this quantity will occupy our calculations in the following, we briefly recap the definition and determination of the effective action in QFT. For a general quantum field  $\Phi(x)$ described by a classical action  $S[\Phi]$ , the effective action  $\Gamma_{\text{eff}}[\Phi]$  is defined as

$$e^{-\Gamma_{\text{eff}}[\bar{\Phi}]} = \int \mathscr{D}\Phi \, e^{-S[\bar{\Phi}+\Phi] + \int \bar{J}(x)\Phi(x)} \,, \tag{2.13}$$

where  $\bar{J}(x)$  is the source that generates the arbitrary background field  $\bar{\Phi}$ , that is,  $\bar{J}(x) = \delta_{\bar{\Phi}} \Gamma_{\text{eff}}$ . Expanding the previous expression around the background field  $\bar{\Phi}$  and recalling that  $\bar{\Phi}$  is the expectation value in the presence of the source  $\bar{J}$ , one obtains, to leading order in quantum corrections,

$$e^{-\Gamma_{\text{eff}}[\bar{\Phi}]} = e^{-S[\bar{\Phi}]} \int \mathscr{D}\Phi \, e^{-\frac{1}{2}\int\Phi\,\delta_{\bar{\Phi}}^2 S\,\Phi + \dots} \,. \tag{2.14}$$

Therefore, the effective action can be written as

$$\Gamma_{\rm eff}[\bar{\Phi}] = S[\bar{\Phi}] + \Gamma[\bar{\Phi}] + O(\hbar^2), \qquad (2.15)$$

where the one-loop corrections,  $\Gamma[\bar{\Phi}]$ , to the effective action are given by

$$\Gamma[\bar{\Phi}] = \pm \frac{1}{2} \log \operatorname{Det} \left\{ \frac{\delta^2 S[\bar{\Phi}]}{\delta \bar{\Phi}(x) \delta \bar{\Phi}(x')} \right\} .$$
(2.16)

The field  $\Phi$  is used to collectively denote a set of fields (real, complex conjugates etc.), eventually comprising Grassmann components. The upper sign in (2.16) corresponds to the contribution of each bosonic field in  $\Phi$ ; the lower, to each Grassmann component.

Next, we shall calculate the one-loop corrections to the effective action  $\Gamma[A]$  for the non-commutative Yang-Mills field by using the background field method, expressing the resulting functional determinants in terms of heat-traces and passing to the first-quantised (worldline) representation of such heat-traces.

#### 2.4 Background field method quantisation

The background field method (BFM) is a technique for calculations in quantum field theory based upon expanding fields about a fixed, arbitrary background that is used for quantising gauge field theories whithout losing explicit gauge invariance. Besides the advantage of maintaining explicit gauge invariance it greatly simplifies some computations. The BFM was introduced by DeWitt in 1967 [37] — see [38, 39] for historical and technical reviews. The main idea behind the BFM is to decompose a gauge field into a background field,  $\bar{A}_{\mu}(x)$ , and a quantum field,  $a_{\mu}(x)$ , which becomes the variable of integration in the functional integral. A gauge is fixed for the quantum field, yet despite this choice gauge invariance with respect to the background field is explicitly maintained. This method is quite general, yet of all quantum gauge choices the Feynman gauge plays a special role in the worldline formalism we shall employ below, allowing unification of the spin 1 loop with spin 0 and 1/2 cases in the first quantised description [15, 16, 21] by decoupling external ghosts. This was essential for recent form factor decompositions of the off-shell gluon vertices which led to very compact results in comparison to the conventional methods based on the Ward identity analysis (see [40-43] for the three- and four-gluon amplitudes).

With this method the computation of the one-loop effective action (2.16) proceeds by expanding the gauge field about an arbitrary background so that  $A_{\mu}(x) = \bar{A}_{\mu}(x) + a_{\mu}(x)$ . With this shift the field strength tensor (2.5) is decomposed as

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \bar{F}_{\mu\nu} + [\bar{D}_{\mu}, a_{\nu}]_{\star} - [\bar{D}_{\nu}, a_{\mu}]_{\star} - i[a_{\mu}, a_{\nu}]_{\star}$$
(2.17)

where  $\bar{F}_{\mu\nu}$  is the field strength tensor and  $\bar{D}_{\mu}$  the covariant derivative computed from the background  $\bar{A}_{\mu}$ . With this shift the action becomes a functional of both  $\bar{A}_{\mu}$  and  $a_{\mu}$ . As shown in (2.16), for the one-loop corrections to the effective action it is sufficient to study the piece quadratic in  $a_{\mu}$  which takes the following form<sup>3</sup>

$$S_{\text{gauge}}^{(2)}[\bar{A},a] = \frac{1}{g^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^D} dx \, \text{tr} \left( -a_\mu [\bar{D}_\nu, [\bar{D}_\nu, a_\mu]] - [\bar{D}_\mu, a_\mu]^2 + 2i \, a_\mu [\bar{F}_{\mu\nu}, a_\nu] \right) \,, \tag{2.18}$$

where multiplication is with the Moyal product throughout. The action  $S_{\text{gauge}}^{(2)}[\bar{A}, a]$  has invariance under the following (independent) transformations

$$\delta_{\alpha}\bar{A}_{\mu} = 0, \qquad \qquad \delta_{\alpha}a_{\mu} = [D_{\mu}, \alpha] = [\bar{D}_{\mu}, \alpha] - i[a_{\mu}, \alpha] \qquad (2.19)$$

$$\bar{\delta}_{\alpha}\bar{A}_{\mu} = [\bar{D}_{\mu}, \alpha], \qquad \bar{\delta}_{\alpha}a_{\mu} = -i[a_{\mu}, \alpha]$$
(2.20)

i.e. respectively quantum gauge invariance and background gauge invariance. We take advantage of this to fix the quantum gauge invariance (retaining gauge invariance with respect to the background field) by choosing the (Feynman-'t Hooft) gauge  $[\bar{D}_{\mu}, a_{\mu}] = 0$ , and we obtain the Faddeev-Popov determinant  $\text{Det}([-\bar{D}, [D, \cdot]])_{\star}$ . Then, disregarding the linear term in  $a_{\mu}$ , the appropriate contribution of the Faddeev-Popov ghosts to the total action at quadratic order reads,

$$S_{\text{ghost}}^{(2)}[\bar{A},\bar{\lambda},\lambda] = -\bar{\lambda}[\bar{D}_{\mu},[\bar{D}_{\mu},\lambda]]$$
(2.21)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Note that after cyclicity under  $\int dx \operatorname{tr} \dots$ , the commutator  $[D_{\mu}, \cdot]$  is anti-Hermitian.

where  $\lambda(x)$  and  $\lambda(x)$  are one-component Grassmann fields valued in the fundamental representation of u(N). Hence, (2.18) is modified to the following compact form (where again all multiplication of fields is carried out with the Moyal  $\star$ -product)

$$S^{(2)}[\bar{A}, a, \bar{\lambda}, \lambda] = \frac{1}{g^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^D} dx \, \operatorname{tr} \left( -a_{\mu}[\bar{D}_{\nu}, [\bar{D}_{\nu}, a_{\mu}]] + 2i \, a_{\mu}[\bar{F}_{\mu\nu}, a_{\nu}] - \bar{\lambda}\bar{D}_{\mu}, [\bar{D}_{\mu}, \lambda]] \right). \tag{2.22}$$

As indicated by (2.16), functional integration over the quantum fields gives the one-loop effective action in terms of the determinants of the operators acting upon  $a_{\mu}$  and  $\lambda$  (we omit now the bars in the background field  $\bar{A}_{\mu}$  and in the covariant derivative thereof)

$$\Gamma[A] = \frac{1}{2} \log \operatorname{Det} \left\{ \delta^2 S_{\text{gauge}} \right\} - \log \operatorname{Det} \left\{ \delta^2 S_{\text{ghost}} \right\}, \qquad (2.23)$$

where

$$\delta^2 S_{\text{ghost}} = \frac{\delta^2 S^{(2)}}{\delta \lambda \, \delta \bar{\lambda}} = -\mathbb{1}_{\text{gauge}} \otimes [D_{\mu}, [D_{\mu}, \cdot]], \qquad (2.24)$$

$$\delta^2 S_{\text{gauge}} = \frac{\delta^2 S^{(2)}}{\delta a_\mu \delta a_\nu} = \left(-\delta_{\mu\nu} [D_\sigma, [D_\sigma, \cdot]] + 2i \left[F_{\mu\nu}, \cdot\right]\right) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\text{ghost}} \,. \tag{2.25}$$

In both operators, the first factor acts on the space  $\mathbb{R}^D \times L_2(\mathbb{R}^D)$  of gauge fluctuations and the second, on  $\mathbb{C} \times L_2(\mathbb{R}^D)$ , the space of ghost configurations. The fields  $A_{\mu}(x), F_{\mu\nu}(x)$  in these operators take values in u(N).

Using an integral representation of the determinants the effective action can be related to heat-traces after introducing IR (m) and UV  $(\Lambda)$  regulators to prevent the integral to diverge at small and large values of the Schwinger proper time T [44]

$$\Gamma[A] = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Lambda^2}^{\infty} \frac{dT}{T} e^{-Tm^2} \left( \operatorname{Tr} e^{-T\delta^2 S_{\text{gauge}}} - 2\operatorname{Tr} e^{-T\delta^2 S_{\text{ghost}}} \right).$$
(2.26)

In the next subsection we present a worldline determination of the heat-traces and test our construction by computing the one-loop  $\beta$ -function. For the sake of such test we find it convenient to use a hard cut-off UV regularisation ( $\Lambda$ ). However, one may as well use other UV regularisation schemes such as Dimensional Regularisation, which fits quite nicely in the worldline approach — it dimensionally extends the Gamma functions that we shall see will appear from the Schwinger proper time integrals.

#### 2.5 Heat-trace representation in the worldline formalism

We wish to give a first quantised representation of the heat-traces. We do this for the ghost sector in detail, since the steps are the same for the gauge fields (see the result (2.45) for this sector). The heat-trace for the ghost contribution to the action, which appears inside (2.26),

$$\operatorname{Tr} e^{-T\delta^2 S_{\text{ghost}}} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^D} dx \operatorname{tr} \langle x | e^{-T\delta^2 S_{\text{ghost}}} | x \rangle$$
(2.27)

is given by a transition amplitude  $\langle x|e^{-T\delta^2 S_{\text{ghost}}}|x\rangle$  which can be computed in terms of a phase-space  $\{x(t), p(t)\}$  path integral of a particle on the circle [10, 12] with Hamiltonian

 $\delta^2 S_{\text{ghost}}$ . The symbol tr in (2.27) denotes the trace over the color indices in  $\delta^2 S_{\text{ghost}}$ . The free kinetic operator of this particle has a zero mode on the circle which must be factored out. Different ways of factoring it out correspond to different particle propagators (Green functions), which however are known to lead to the same effective action in flat phase-space path integrals — see [12] for a detailed discussion of this issue for the worldline models used for non-commutative QFT's.<sup>4</sup> In the present work we adopt so-called string-inspired Green function, which corresponds to the zero mode being the center of mass of the path,  $x_0$ . We thus shift the worldline trajectories as  $x(t) \to x_0 + x(t)$ , where now the quantum fluctuation satisfies  $\int_0^T dt x(t) = 0$ . With this bag of tricks we can rewrite the ghost contribution to the effective action as

$$\operatorname{Tr} e^{-T\delta^2 S_{\text{ghost}}} = \operatorname{tr} \int_{\mathbb{R}^D} dx_0 \int_{\text{PBC}} \mathscr{D}x(t) \mathscr{D}p(t) \ \mathscr{P} e^{-\int_0^T dt \{-ip(t)\dot{x}(t) + H^W_{\text{ghost}}(x(t), p(t))\}}$$
(2.28)

where PBC stands for the periodic boundary conditions for the trajectory x(t), whereas no restrictions are imposed on p(t).  $H_{\text{ghost}}^W$  is a  $u_{\star}(N)$ -valued function of the phase-space trajectories which thus requires the introduction of the path-ordering operator  $\mathscr{P}$ . This function  $H_{\text{ghost}}^W$  is obtained after replacing  $x \to x(t)$  and  $\partial \to ip(t)$  in the Weyl-ordered expression of the Hamiltonian  $\delta^2 S_{\text{ghost}}$  (Weyl ordering is needed by the mid-point prescription of the particle path integral [47]). However, upon a formal Taylor expansion, one can easily show that the operator  $e^{-T\delta^2 S_{\text{ghost}}}$  is a combination of the following mixed products (for some fields  $\phi, \psi$ )

$$\begin{split} \phi(x+i\theta\partial)\cdot\psi(x-i\theta\partial)\,,\\ \partial\cdot\phi(x+i\theta\partial)+\phi(x+i\theta\partial)\cdot\partial\,,\\ \partial\cdot\psi(x-i\theta\partial)+\psi(x-i\theta\partial)\cdot\partial\,, \end{split}$$

all of which are already Weyl-ordered. The terms  $x+i\theta\partial$  and  $x-i\theta\partial$  respectively correspond to left- and right-Moyal multiplications, i.e.

$$(\phi \star \psi)(x) = \phi(x + i\theta\partial)\psi(x) = \psi(x - i\theta\partial)\phi(x).$$
(2.29)

Thus, the full operator is Weyl-ordered, and no counterterms are needed in order to write it as a symmetrised expression of coordinates and momenta.

To write down the function  $H_{\text{ghost}}^W$  let us analyse the covariant derivative on the ghost field,

$$[D_{\mu}, \lambda^a T^a] = \left(\partial_{\mu}\lambda^a + \frac{1}{2}f^{abc}\left\{A^b_{\mu}, \lambda^c\right\} - \frac{i}{2}d^{abc}\left[A^b_{\mu}, \lambda^c\right]\right)T^a, \qquad (2.30)$$

or, equivalently, as it acts on the adjoint fields  $\lambda^a$ ,

$$D_{\mu}^{\text{adj}} \lambda^{a} = \left( \delta^{ab} \partial_{\mu} - \frac{1}{2} f^{abc} \left[ A_{\mu}^{c}(x - \theta p) + A_{\mu}^{c}(x + \theta p) \right] + \frac{i}{2} d^{abc} \left[ A_{\mu}^{c}(x - \theta p) - A_{\mu}^{c}(x + \theta p) \right] \right) \lambda^{b} .$$
(2.31)

 $<sup>^{4}</sup>$ In curved spaces, i.e. when the path integrals are represented by non-linear sigma models, this is a non-trivial issue that was discussed in [45, 46].

The classical Hamiltonian counterpart of the operator  $-(D^{adj})^2$  then reads

$$(H_{\text{ghost}}^{W})^{ab} = \left\{ \delta^{ad} p_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} (i f^{adc} - d^{adc}) A_{\mu}^{c} (x - \theta p) + \frac{1}{2} (i f^{adc} + d^{adc}) A_{\mu}^{c} (x + \theta p) \right\} \\ \times \left\{ \delta^{db} p^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} (i f^{dbe} - d^{dbe}) A^{\mu e} (x - \theta p) + \frac{1}{2} (i f^{dbe} + d^{dbe}) A^{\mu e} (x + \theta p) \right\}.$$

$$(2.32)$$

With these results and redefining  $x(t) \to \sqrt{T}x(t)$  and  $p(t) \to p(t)/\sqrt{T}$  for power counting convenience, with rescaled worldline time  $t \in [0, 1]$ , the ghost contribution to the effective action can finally be written as

$$\Gamma_{\text{ghost}}[A] = -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty \frac{dT}{T} \operatorname{tr} \int_{\mathbb{R}^D} dx_0 \int \mathscr{D}x(t) \mathscr{D}p(t) \ \mathscr{P} \operatorname{e}^{-\int_0^1 dt} \left\{ -ip\dot{x} + p^2 + TV(x,p) \right\}, \quad (2.33)$$

where  $\mathscr{P}$  represents the path-ordering, the trace is with respect to the color indices, and the potential V(x,p) is the matrix obtained from the interacting part of the classical Hamiltonian (2.32) with the scaled variables  $x^{\mu} = x_0^{\mu} + \sqrt{T}x^{\mu}(t)$  and  $p^{\mu} = p^{\mu}(t)/\sqrt{T}$ . For simplicity, we have momentarily omitted the UV- and IR-regulators.

The  $u_{\star}(N)$ -valued potential V can be split into the following five parts

 $V = V_{+} + V_{-} + V_{++} + V_{--} + V_{\mathcal{M}}$ (2.34)

where the subscripts indicate the number of left- and right-acting gauge fields A, whereas the fifth term is a mixed contribution which, as explained above, is linked to non-planar diagrams. Explicitly,

$$V_{+}^{ab} = T^{-\frac{1}{2}} (i f^{abc} + d^{abc}) A_{\mu}^{c}(x_{+}(t)) p^{\mu}(t)$$
(2.35)

$$V_{-}^{ab} = T^{-\frac{1}{2}} (i f^{abc} - d^{abc}) A_{\mu}^{c}(x_{-}(t)) p^{\mu}(t)$$
(2.36)

$$V_{++}^{ab} = \frac{1}{4} (i f^{adc} + d^{adc}) A_{\mu}^{c}(x_{+}(t)) (i f^{dbe} + d^{dbe}) A^{\mu e}(x_{+}(t))$$
(2.37)

$$V_{--}^{ab} = \frac{1}{4} (i f^{adc} - d^{adc}) A^c_{\mu}(x_{-}(t)) (i f^{dbe} - d^{dbe}) A^{\mu e}(x_{-}(t))$$

$$V_{\mathcal{M}}^{ab} = \frac{1}{4} (i f^{adc} - d^{adc}) A^c_{\mu}(x_{-}(t)) (i f^{dbe} + d^{dbe}) A^{\mu e}(x_{+}(t))$$
(2.38)

$$+\frac{1}{4}(if^{adc}+d^{adc})A^{c}_{\mu}(x_{+}(t))(if^{dbe}-d^{dbe})A^{\mu e}(x_{-}(t)), \qquad (2.39)$$

where we have introduced the notation  $x_{\pm}^{\mu}(t) = x_0^{\mu} + \sqrt{T}x^{\mu}(t) \pm \theta^{\mu\nu}p_{\nu}(t)/\sqrt{T}$ .

The one-loop effective action can thus be used as a generating functional of effective vertices. In order to do that, one treats the potential as a perturbation of the free phase-space action, normalised as

$$\int \mathscr{D}x(t)\mathscr{D}p(t) e^{-\int_0^1 dt \left\{-ip(t)\dot{x}(t) + p^2(t)\right\}} = \frac{1}{(4\pi T)^{\frac{D}{2}}}$$
(2.40)

so that

$$\Gamma_{\text{ghost}}[A] = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int_0^\infty \frac{dT}{T^{1+\frac{D}{2}}} \operatorname{tr} \int_{\mathbb{R}^D} dx \,\mathscr{P} \,\left\langle \,\mathrm{e}^{-T \int_0^1 dt \,\, V(x(t), p(t))} \right\rangle \,. \tag{2.41}$$

The mean value is computed perturbatively by means of the following correlators (otherwise called worldline Green functions) derived in appendix B:

$$\langle p_{\mu}(t)p_{\nu}(t')\rangle = \frac{1}{2}\,\delta_{\mu\nu}\,,\qquad(2.42)$$

$$\langle x_{\mu}(t)x_{\nu}(t')\rangle = 2\,\delta_{\mu\nu}\,G(t-t')\,,\qquad(2.43)$$

$$\langle p_{\mu}(t)x_{\nu}(t')\rangle = i\,\delta_{\mu\nu}\,G(t-t')\,,\qquad(2.44)$$

where  $G(t) = -\frac{1}{2} (|t| - t^2).$ 

As regards the gauge contribution to the one-loop effective action, we may similarly write

$$\Gamma_{\text{gauge}}[A] = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int_0^\infty \frac{dT}{T^{1+\frac{D}{2}}} \operatorname{tr} \int_{\mathbb{R}^D} dx \, \mathscr{P} \, \left\langle \, \mathrm{e}^{-T \int_0^1 dt \, \left\{ \mathcal{V}(x(t), p(t)) - 2i\mathcal{F}(x(t), p(t)) \right\}} \right\rangle,$$
(2.45)

where the interactions include now an extra matrix structure due to Lorentz indices, so the trace refers to color as well as to space-time indices,

$$\mathcal{V}^{ab}_{\mu\nu} = \delta_{\mu\nu} \, V^{ab}(x(t), p(t)) \,, \tag{2.46}$$

$$\mathcal{F}^{ab}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \Big[ (if^{abc} - d^{abc}) F^c_{\mu\nu}(x - \theta p) + (if^{abc} + d^{abc}) F^c_{\mu\nu}(x + \theta p) \Big].$$
(2.47)

Note that the potential  $\mathcal{V}$  is diagonal in the Lorentz indices and is essentially given by the same potential V as for the ghost's contribution. On the other hand, the extra interaction term  $\mathcal{F}$  is a non-trivial Lorentz matrix that is due to the field strength term in (2.25). Before leaving this section, it is worth comparing these Hamiltonians to the results of [12]. Due to the non-standard normalisation of the Lie algebra generator in the Abelian case it is necessary to use  $f_{ijk} = 0$  and  $d_{000} = 2$  to reproduce the worldline action used in the U(1) case.

The gauge and ghost contributions to the one- and two-point functions will be discussed in section 5, where we will show that tadpole diagrams vanish and that the propagator contains, as expected, a logarithmically-divergent transverse contribution. Before doing that, in the next section we introduce a set of auxiliary fields for the worldline path integral, which will allow us to compactly write both ghost and Yang-Mills contributions to the full effective action as special cases of a single master formula and will help simplify the expansion of the effective action to second order in the gauge field.

# 3 Auxiliary worldline fields

Having arrived at a path integral representation of the one-loop effective action (2.33), (2.45) in phase-space, it is now possible to begin calculating the correlation functions. It is worth reiterating that in principle this can be achieved by making a straightforward expansion of the path ordered exponential of the action, followed by computation of the path integral over the worldline coordinates x(t) and p(t).

However, the worldline path integral as it stands is not yet optimal, since the potential entering into the action is matrix valued with respect to the gauge group indices and Lorentz indices and consequently requires the path ordering prescription for the exponentiated line integral. However, as has now been applied in a number of cases [22–24, 27, 48, 49], building upon worldline representations of higher spin fields [50–61] and differential forms [62, 63], such an awkward approach can be avoided by the introduction of auxiliary worldline fields. These additional fields play the rôle of filling out the Hilbert spaces associated to extra degrees of freedom which in our case will represent gauge group information (termed "colour fields") and space-time forms (to be referred to as "spin fields" for reasons soon to become apparent). As such, we now introduce two independent sets of auxiliary worldline fields.

# 3.1 Auxiliary colour fields

The first, worldline colour fields, are exactly analogous to those used in [23, 24, 48, 49] and will absorb the gauge group indices, so we define a set of  $N^2$  complex Grassmann variables,<sup>5</sup> which following [22, 27] we denote by  $\{\bar{c}^a\}_{a=1}^{N^2}$  and  $\{c_a\}_{a=1}^{N^2}$  that transform in the adjoint representation of u(N). Choosing canonical Poisson brackets in Minkowski space

$$\{\bar{c}^a, c_b\} = -i\delta^a_b \tag{3.1}$$

facilitates the construction of a classical representation of the Lie algebra: define  $S^a \equiv \bar{c}^r (T^a)_r{}^s c_s$  and note

$$\{S^a, S^b\}_{PB} = f^{abc} S^c. aga{3.2}$$

Upon quantisation — where  $\bar{c}^a$  and  $c_a$  are replaced by operators acting, for example, on a coherent state basis with anti-commutation relations  $\{\hat{c}^a, \hat{c}_b\} = \delta^a_b$  — we then find

$$[\hat{S}^{a}, \hat{S}^{b}] = i f^{abc} \hat{S}^{c}. \tag{3.3}$$

The Minkowski space action compatible with these brackets is

$$S[\bar{c},c] = i \int_0^1 \bar{c}^a \dot{c}_a \, d\tau.$$
(3.4)

We observe that the Green function of these worldline fields, derived from the first order kinetic term, is essentially the step function. This is sufficient to generate a path ordering prescription, so that it need no longer be imposed by hand, whilst the anti-periodic boundary conditions implement the trace over colour indices. Moreover, given (3.3), the colour fields can be used to absorb the gauge group indices of the matrix valued potential in the action.

This leads to a modification of the worldline action which on the unit circle becomes (the Lorentz space identity matrix has been suppressed to avoid cluttering)

$$S[p, x, \bar{c}, c, a] = \int_0^1 dt \bigg[ -ip \cdot \dot{x} + p^2 + \bar{c}^a \dot{c}_a + TV_a^{\ b} \left( \bar{c}^a c_b + \frac{1}{2} \delta_b^a \right) \\ - 2iT(\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu})_a^{\ b} \left( \bar{c}^a c_b + \frac{1}{2} \delta_b^a \right) + ia(t) \left( \bar{c}^a c_a - n \right) \bigg], \qquad (3.5)$$

 $^{5}$ We could equally use bosonic fields with minimal changes to the steps that follow [23].

where  $(\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu})^{ab}$  is given in (2.47). Note that we have Weyl ordered the terms involving the colour fields (which produces the factors  $\frac{1}{2}\delta_a^b$ ) which is part of the path integral regularisation; such factors were absent in previous applications of worldline colour fields based on SU(N) or SO(N) symmetry groups due to tracelessness of the matrices that appeared in the action.

In the action (3.5) we have also gauged the U(1) phase symmetry by introducing a (worldline) gauge field a(t). We will immediately fix this gauge symmetry by choosing  $a(t) = \vartheta$ , a constant modulus distinguishing gauge inequivalent configurations. Examination of large gauge transformations shows that  $\vartheta \in [0, 2\pi]$  that must be integrated over with convenient normalisation of the measure  $\frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi}$ . The constant  $n \equiv \varrho - \frac{N^2}{2}$  projects onto an irreducible representation of the colour Hilbert space ( $\varrho = 1$  will project onto the adjoint representation). To see this, note that the auxiliary fields  $c_a$  correspond to a set of  $N^2$  fermionic oscillators that generate a  $2^{N^2}$ -dimensional Hilbert space

$$\mathcal{H}_C = \bigoplus_{\rho=0}^{N^2} \mathcal{H}_{\varrho}, \quad \dim(\mathcal{H}_{\varrho}) = \operatorname{tr}\left(\mathbb{1}_{\varrho}\right) = \binom{N^2}{\varrho}$$
(3.6)

where  $\mathcal{H}_{\varrho}$  denotes the subspace with *c*-occupation number  $\varrho$ : in a coherent state basis we realise the anti-commutation relations by the identification  $\hat{c}^a \to \bar{c}^a$ ,  $\hat{c}_a = \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{c}^a}$  for Grassmann variables  $\bar{c}^a$  and then an arbitrary state in such a Hilbert space is represented by a wavefunction with completely anti-symmetric components  $\varphi_{a_1...a_n}(x)$ ,

$$\phi(x,\bar{c}) = \varphi(x) + \varphi_{a_1}(x)\bar{c}^{a_1} + \dots + \varphi_{a_1\dots a_p}(x)\bar{c}^{a_1} \cdots \bar{c}^{a_p} + \dots \varphi_{a_1\dots a_{N^2}}(x)\bar{c}^{a_1} \cdots \bar{c}^{a_{N^2}}.$$
 (3.7)

The number operator is given by  $\hat{N} = \hat{\bar{c}}^a \hat{c}_a = \bar{c}^a \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{c}^a}$  which allows projection operators to be written

$$\mathbb{P}_{\varrho} = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} e^{i\vartheta(\varrho - \hat{N})} \implies \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbb{P}_{\varrho}) = \operatorname{tr}(\mathbb{1}_{\varrho}).$$
(3.8)

This selects from (3.7) the wavefunction transforming in the representation with  $\rho$  antisymmetric indices. The path integral representation of this projector is implemented in (3.5) where it arises from the gauge fixing of the local U(1) symmetry gauged by the worldline fields  $a(\tau)$  discussed above. This provides

$$\int \mathscr{D}p \oint \mathscr{D}x \oint \mathscr{D}[\bar{c}, c] \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} \operatorname{tr} \mathscr{P} \exp\left(-S[p, x, \bar{c}, c, \vartheta]\right)$$
(3.9)

with anti-periodic boundary conditions on the Grassmann colour fields and periodic boundary conditions on the particle trajectories. Note, however, that we still require a path ordering prescription for the Lorentz indices that appear inside the worldline action. We discuss how this can be circumvented in a similar way to the gauge group indices in the following section.

# 3.2 Auxiliary spin fields

It would be advantageous to remove the path ordering associated with the Lorentz matrix structure of the worldline action by also absorbing their indices by the introduction of auxiliary fields. A preliminary version of this approach was presented in early work calculating the one-loop effective action in commutative space [21, 64] building upon the original proposal of [15], that was sufficient to generalise the well-known "cycle replacement rules" relating amplitudes in scalar and spinor quantum electrodynamics to the case of a spin-one particle in a virtual loop — for a concise description of this approach see [16, 65]. However, in the above-mentioned works the projection onto the correct subspace of the enlarged Hilbert space required to include the spin degrees of freedom was less elegant (involving the introduction of an additional mass-term and parity operator) than the updated technique we will use here. This projection is essentially the same as that used to pick out a wavefunction transforming in an irreducible representation of the gauge group presented in the previous section.

Recall that the worldline path integrals reproduce the functional determinants of the differential operators given in equations (2.24) and (2.25), which can be re-written as

$$(-\mathbb{1}[D_{\sigma}, [D_{\sigma}, \cdot]] + 2i\zeta [\mathbb{F}, \cdot])_{\star}$$

$$(3.10)$$

with  $\zeta = 1$  for the gauge degrees of freedom (where  $\mathbb{1}$  is the space-time identity) and  $\zeta = 0$ for the ghosts (where  $\mathbb{1} = 1$ ), and where  $\mathbb{F}$  represents the field strength. Following the treatment of the above section, we introduce additional Grassmann operators with spacetime indices,  $\hat{\psi}^{\mu}$  and  $\hat{\psi}^{\mu}$  with anti-commutator  $\{\hat{\psi}^{\mu}, \hat{\psi}_{\nu}\} = \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ . These operators generate a  $2^{D}$ -dimensional Hilbert space spanned by wavefunctions with an expansion in terms of Lie-algebra valued *r*-forms,  $\phi_{\mu_1...\mu_r}$  for  $r \in \{0, \ldots, D\}$ ,

$$\Phi(x,\bar{\psi}) = \phi(x) + \phi_{\mu_1}(x)\bar{\psi}^{\mu_1} + \dots + \phi_{\mu_1\dots\mu_r}(x)\bar{\psi}^{\mu_1}\dots\bar{\psi}^{\mu_r} + \dots + \phi_{\mu_1\dots\mu_D}(x)\bar{\psi}^{\mu_1}\dots\bar{\psi}^{\mu_D}, \quad (3.11)$$

each of which gives a subspace of dimension  $\begin{pmatrix} D \\ r \end{pmatrix}$ . The projection operator that selects the component with r anti-symmetric indices is built from the number operator  $\hat{L} = \hat{\psi}^{\mu} \hat{\psi}_{\mu}$  as

$$\mathbb{P}_r = \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\varphi}{2\pi} e^{i\varphi(r-\hat{L})} \implies \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbb{P}_r) = \operatorname{tr}\left(\mathbb{1}_r\right).$$
(3.12)

With these operators we define a Hamiltonian

$$\hat{H} := -\mathbb{1}[D_{\sigma}, [D_{\sigma}, \cdot]] + 2i\,\hat{\psi}^{\mu}[F_{\mu\nu}, \cdot]\hat{\psi}^{\nu}, \qquad (3.13)$$

which acts on the graded wave function (3.11). It acts as (2.24) ( $\zeta = 0$ ) on the subspace of zero-forms, where ghost fields live, and as (2.25) ( $\zeta = 1$ ) on the space of one-forms, where gauge fields live. In a coherent state basis we can identify  $\hat{\psi} \to \bar{\psi}$  and  $\hat{\psi} \to \frac{\partial}{\partial \psi}$ , so that

$$\hat{H}\phi_{\mu}(x)\bar{\psi}^{\mu} = \left(-\delta_{\mu\nu}[D_{\sigma}, [D_{\sigma}, \phi_{\nu}(x)]] + 2i[F_{\mu\nu}, \phi_{\nu}(x)]\right)\bar{\psi}^{\mu}$$
(3.14)

$$\hat{H}\phi(x) = -[D_{\sigma}, [D_{\sigma}, \phi(x)]].$$
 (3.15)

The projection operators can be implemented at the level of the path integral in order to select the appropriate subspace for the gauge and ghost degrees of freedom. We introduce Grassmann functions  $\bar{\psi}^{\mu}(\tau)$  and  $\psi^{\mu}(\tau)$  in the coherent state basis with kinetic term  $\int_0^1 d\tau \, \bar{\psi}^{\mu} \dot{\psi}_{\mu}$  which yields a Poisson bracket compatible with the quantum anti-commutation relations.<sup>6</sup> The Green function of these fields is again sufficient to generate the path ordering and anti-periodic boundary conditions produce the trace over Lorentz indices. Moreover, the anti-symmetry of the field strength indices automatically yields Weyl ordering. In the path integral described below, the projection (3.12) can be realized in the same way as for the colour degrees of freedom, i.e. by introducing a U(1) gauge field  $\phi(t)$  which in turn can be gauge-fixed to the angle variable  $\varphi$ .

Grassmann fields as well as bosonic gauge fields are routinely applied in worldline representations of fields of arbitrary spin [50–56, 66]. In such cases the resulting free particle action usually enjoys a worldline supersymmetry between the bosonic coordinates  $x^{\mu}$  and the fermionic fields  $\psi^{\mu}$  — that can be extended to incorporate the colour fields — which has profound consequences [16, 27]; although in general this supersymmetry can survive the transition to non-commutative space, it turns out not to apply in the current case (see (3.16) below) where the supersymmetry algebra does not close once a coupling of the point particle to the gauge field is included (as would also be the case in commutative space).

#### 3.3 The worldline representation of the effective action

Putting together the ingredients introduced in the previous subsections we arrive at the final version of the worldline action to be used in our non-commutative setup, i.e.

$$S_{\underline{\varrho},r}[p,x,\bar{\psi},\psi,\bar{c},c,\varphi,\vartheta] = \int_0^1 dt \left[ -ip \cdot \dot{x} + p^2 + \bar{c}^a \dot{c}_a + \bar{\psi} \cdot \dot{\psi} + TV_a^{\ b} \left( \bar{c}^a c_b + \frac{1}{2} \delta^a_b \right) - 2iT \bar{\psi}^{\mu} (\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu})_a^{\ b} \psi^{\nu} \left( \bar{c}^a c_b + \frac{1}{2} \delta^a_b \right) + i\vartheta \left( \bar{c}^a c_b - n \right) + i\varphi \left( \bar{\psi} \cdot \psi - s \right) \right],$$

$$(3.16)$$

where the Chern-Simons charge  $s \equiv r - \frac{D}{2}$  fixes the degree of the form making up the wavefunction  $\Phi(x, \bar{\psi})$ . The factor  $-\frac{D}{2}$  appears due to Weyl-ordering the number operator: as mentioned above, for the gauge sector we set r = 1 and for the ghosts we fix r = 0. Finally  $\varphi$  is the U(1) modulus left over after gauge fixing that is to be integrated over; it is to  $\phi(t)$  as  $\vartheta$  is to a(t).

Hence, denoting by  $\Gamma[A]_{\varrho,r}$  the complete path integral including auxiliary fields that project onto the representation of U(N) with  $\varrho$  fully anti-symmetric indices and the Lorentz sector of the Hilbert space associated to r-forms,

$$\Gamma[A]_{\varrho,r} := -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty \frac{dT}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} T^{1+\frac{D}{2}}} \int \mathscr{D}p \oint \mathscr{D}x \oint \mathscr{D}[\bar{\psi},\psi] \oint \mathscr{D}[\bar{c},c] \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\varphi}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} \times \exp\left(-S_{\varrho,r}[p,x,\bar{\psi},\psi,\bar{c},c,\varphi,\vartheta]\right),$$
(3.17)

then the one-loop effective action has path integral representation

$$\Gamma[A] = \Gamma[A]_{1,1} - 2\Gamma[A]_{1,0}.$$
(3.18)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>This can furnish us with a classical representation of the Lorentz algebra: given generators  $(M^{\mu\nu})_{\alpha\beta}$ with Lorentz indices  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  we may define  $\mathcal{M}^{\mu\nu} := \bar{\psi}^{\alpha} (M^{\mu\nu})_{\alpha\beta} \psi^{\beta}$  and note their Poisson bracket is given by  $\{\mathcal{M}^{\mu\nu}, \mathcal{M}^{\rho\sigma}\}_{PB} = i (g^{\mu\rho} \mathcal{M}^{\nu\sigma} - g^{\nu\rho} \mathcal{M}^{\mu\sigma} - g^{\mu\sigma} \mathcal{M}^{\nu\rho} + g^{\nu\sigma} \mathcal{M}^{\mu\rho}).$ 

In the path integrals, all Grassmann variables have anti-periodic boundary conditions, the bosonic embedding coordinates have periodic boundary conditions and the momenta are unrestrained. Note that at last we have arrived at a path integral representation which contains a pure exponential function, since the auxiliary fields produce the required path ordering. This represents a major advantage of the auxiliary field formulation. Equation (3.18) will form the basis of our calculation of the  $\beta$ -function by expanding the two contributions to quadratic order in the gauge field.

There is one final modification to the path integrals defined above. It is convenient to absorb the  $\vartheta$ - and  $\varphi$ -dependence of the worldline action by redefining the worldline fields according to

$$\begin{pmatrix} \bar{c}^{a}(t) \\ \bar{\psi}^{\mu}(t) \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} \bar{c}^{a}(t) \\ \bar{\psi}^{\mu}(t) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} e^{-i\vartheta t} & 0 \\ 0 & e^{-i\varphi t} \end{pmatrix}; \qquad \begin{pmatrix} c^{a}(t) \\ \psi^{\mu}(t) \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\vartheta t} & 0 \\ 0 & e^{i\varphi t} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} c^{a}(t) \\ \psi^{\mu}(t) \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.19)

which turns the original *anti-periodic* boundary conditions on the Grassmann fields  $\bar{\psi}^{\mu}$ ,  $\psi^{\mu}$  and  $\bar{c}^{a}$ ,  $c_{a}$  into *twisted* boundary conditions (TBC)

$$c^{a}(1) = -e^{i\vartheta}c^{a}(0), \qquad \bar{c}^{a}(1) = -e^{-i\vartheta}\bar{c}^{a}(0) \psi^{\mu}(1) = -e^{i\varphi}\psi^{\mu}(0), \qquad \bar{\psi}^{\mu}(1) = -e^{-i\varphi}\bar{\psi}^{\mu}(0).$$
(3.20)

Putting this all together we get an equivalent representation of (3.17)

$$\Gamma[A]_{\varrho,r} = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Lambda^{-2}}^{\infty} \frac{dT \, e^{-m^2 T}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} T^{\frac{D}{2}+1}} \int d^D x \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\varphi}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} e^{i\vartheta \left(\varrho - \frac{N^2}{2}\right)} e^{i\varphi \left(r - \frac{D}{2}\right)} \\ \times \int \mathscr{D}p \int_{\text{PBC}} \mathscr{D}x \int_{\text{TBC}} \mathscr{D}[\bar{\psi}, \psi] \int_{\text{TBC}} \mathscr{D}[\bar{c}, c] \, e^{-S[p, x, \bar{c}, c, \bar{\psi}, \psi]}, \qquad (3.21)$$

where the gauge fixed action with shifted worldline auxiliary fields is simplified to

$$S[p, x, \bar{c}, c, \bar{\psi}, \psi] = \int_0^1 dt \left[ -ip \cdot \dot{x} + p^2 + \bar{c}^a \dot{c}_a + \bar{\psi} \cdot \dot{\psi} + TV_a^{\ b} \left( \bar{c}^a c_b + \frac{1}{2} \delta_b^a \right) - 2iT \bar{\psi}^{\mu} (\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu})_a^{\ b} \psi^{\nu} \left( \bar{c}^a c_b + \frac{1}{2} \delta_b^a \right) \right].$$
(3.22)

The action (3.22) and path integral (3.21) represent one of the main results of this paper — a first quantised representation of the effective action where all degrees of freedom are treated equally and the gauge and ghost sectors are unified without the need for a manual path ordering. In the next section we compute the path integral over the auxiliary fields, expanding the effective action up to quadratic order in the gauge field.

#### 4 Planar divergences of the effective action

The planar divergences that contribute to the  $\beta$ -function arise from terms involving products of gauge fields — or the field strength tensor — evaluated at either  $(x + \theta \cdot p)$  or  $(x - \theta \cdot p)$ . Here we begin the calculation of the  $\beta$ -function based on the two point function, at quadratic order in the gauge field, so we expand the effective action (3.21) to second order for p = 1 and r = 0, 1 and discount products of fields with respective arguments  $(x \pm \theta \cdot p)$  and  $(x \mp \theta \cdot p)$ . In this section we carry out this expansion and compute the path integrals over the auxiliary worldline fields, leaving the eventual computation of the remaining path integral over phase-space and the proper time integral for section 5.

Referring back to (2.41) and (2.45), and implementing the auxiliary fields as described above, we can write the more general path integral as an expectation value (with  $\langle 1 \rangle = 1$ ):

$$\Gamma[A]_{\varrho,r} = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Lambda^{-2}}^{\infty} \frac{dT \, e^{-m^2 T}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} T^{\frac{D}{2}+1}} \int d^D x \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\varphi}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} e^{i\vartheta \left(\varrho - \frac{N^2}{2}\right)} e^{i\varphi \left(r - \frac{D}{2}\right)} \\ \times \left(2\cos\frac{\vartheta}{2}\right)^{N^2} \left(2\cos\frac{\varphi}{2}\right)^D \left\langle e^{-T \int_0^1 d\tau \left[\left(V_a^{\ b} - 2i\bar{\psi}^{\mu}(\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu})_a^{\ b}\psi^{\nu}\right)(\bar{c}^a c_b + \frac{1}{2}\delta^b_a)\right]}\right\rangle$$
(4.1)

where the trigonometric expressions arise due to the normalisation of the free path-integrals over the auxiliary fields

$$\int_{\text{TBC}} \mathscr{D}[\bar{\psi}, \psi] \, e^{-\int_0^1 dt \, \bar{\psi}^{\mu} \dot{\psi}_{\mu}} = \left(2 \cos \frac{\varphi}{2}\right)^D, \tag{4.2}$$

$$\int_{\text{TBC}} \mathscr{D}[\bar{c},c] \, e^{-\int_0^1 \bar{c}^a \dot{c}_a dt} = \left(2\cos\frac{\vartheta}{2}\right)^{N^2} \,. \tag{4.3}$$

Above, along with the Green's functions defined in (2.42)–(2.44), we make use of the Green functions associated to the auxiliary fields that are read off from their kinetic actions. With the employed twisted boundary conditions, these are:

$$\left\langle \psi_{\mu}(t)\bar{\psi}^{\nu}(s)\right\rangle_{c} = \delta^{\nu}_{\mu}\Delta(t-s;\varphi),$$
(4.4)

$$\left\langle c_a(t)\,\bar{c}^b(s)\right\rangle = \delta^a_b \Delta(t-s,\vartheta)\,,$$
(4.5)

where

$$\Delta(t-s;\omega) := \frac{1}{2\cos\frac{\omega}{2}} \left[ e^{i\frac{\omega}{2}} \Theta(t-s) - e^{-i\frac{\omega}{2}} \Theta(s-t) \right].$$
(4.6)

Note that in the limit  $\omega \to 0$  we recover  $\Delta(t-s;0) = \frac{1}{2}\sigma(t-s)$  that is appropriate for a kinetic term first order in derivatives with anti-periodic boundary conditions. We provide some further discussion of these worldline Green functions in the appendix B. Below we consider the expansion of this expectation value up to quadratic order in the gauge field and will evaluate (4.1) for  $\rho = 1$  and r = 1, 0 for the gauge and ghost contribution respectively. However, we can calculate these two contributions simultaneously by keeping r arbitrary until the end of the calculation, that represents a significant advantage granted by the auxiliary worldline field approach.

#### 4.1 Single vertex insertion

We first demonstrate that there are no planar contributions that are linear in the gauge field. We expand the exponential of (4.1) to first order, which introduces an insertion of single vertices built from V and  $\mathcal{F}$ . Firstly note that the first-order contribution from the  $\mathcal{F}$ -term involves  $\langle \bar{\psi}^{\mu}(t)\psi^{\nu}(t)\rangle \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}$  which is proportional to  $\delta^{\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu}(x+\theta\cdot p)=0$  due to tracelessness of the field strength tensor. In fact to build anything non-zero from this part of the action we need to go to at least quadratic order in  $\mathcal{F}$ .

On the other hand the V-part of the action contributes at  $\mathcal{O}(A)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(A^2)$ . The two (left and right) linear contributions in A are distinguished by  $\pm$  and read

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Lambda^{-2}}^{\infty} \frac{dT \, e^{-m^2 T}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} T^{\frac{D+1}{2}}} \int d^D x \left(i f_{abc} \pm d_{abc}\right) \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\varphi}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} \, e^{i\vartheta \left(1 - \frac{N^2}{2}\right)} e^{i\varphi \left(r - \frac{D}{2}\right)} \\ \times \left(2 \cos \frac{\vartheta}{2}\right)^{N^2} \left(2 \cos \frac{\varphi}{2}\right)^D \int_0^1 dt \left\langle A^c_\mu(x) \, p_\mu \right\rangle \left\langle \bar{c}^a(t) c_b(t) + \frac{1}{2} \delta^a_b \right\rangle ,$$

$$(4.7)$$

where since the operatorial dependence of the potential is shifted away by the integral over the zero mode we are free to evaluate it at the point x: this property obviously holds at any order in p.

With  $\langle \bar{c}^a(t)c_b(t) + \frac{1}{2}\delta^b_a \rangle = \delta^b_a \left(-\frac{i}{2}\tan\frac{\vartheta}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right)$  we immediately remove the contributions from the anti-symmetric structure constants (the remaining contribution would therefore vanish in a commutative SU(N) theory). Furthermore, the integrals over the moduli read

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{d\varphi}{2\pi} \left(2\cos\frac{\varphi}{2}\right)^{D} e^{i\varphi\left(r-\frac{D}{2}\right)} = \begin{pmatrix} D\\ r \end{pmatrix}; \qquad \qquad 0 \leqslant r \leqslant D, \qquad (4.8)$$

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} \left(2\cos\frac{\vartheta}{2}\right)^{N^{2}} \left(\frac{i}{2}\tan\frac{\vartheta}{2}\right)^{n} e^{i\vartheta\left(1-\frac{N^{2}}{2}\right)}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2^{n}} \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i} \left(1+\frac{1}{z}\right)^{N^{2}-n} \left(1-\frac{1}{z}\right)^{n} = \frac{N^{2}-2n}{2^{n}}; \quad 0 \leq n \leq N^{2}$$

$$(4.9)$$

so that the full integral over  $\vartheta$  is equal 1, and (4.7) thus becomes

$$\frac{1}{2} \binom{D}{r} \int_{\Lambda^{-2}}^{\infty} \frac{dT e^{-m^2 T}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} T^{\frac{D+1}{2}}} (\pm) d_{aac} \int d^D x \int_0^1 dt \left\langle A^c_{\mu}(x) p_{\mu}(t) \right\rangle.$$
(4.10)

We set r = 0 for the ghost sector and r = 1 for the gauge sector; the latter contribution generates an additional factor of D that is implementing the trace over Lorentz indices (recall that the trace is generated by integrating over the auxiliary variables  $\bar{\psi}$ ,  $\psi$ , which by this stage has become an integration over the modulus  $\varphi$ ).

#### 4.1.1 Terms quadratic in A

At first order in expansion of the exponential there are also four terms quadratic in the gauge potential, two planar terms (++ and --) and two non planar ones (+- and -+). The two planar contributions read

$$\frac{1}{8} \int_{\Lambda^{-2}}^{\infty} \frac{dT e^{-m^2 T}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} T^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int d^D x \left( f_{acd} f_{bce} + d_{acd} d_{bce} \pm i (f_{acd} d_{bce} - f_{bcd} d_{ace}) \right) \\
\times \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\varphi}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} e^{i\vartheta \left(1 - \frac{N^2}{2}\right)} e^{i\varphi \left(r - \frac{D}{2}\right)} \left( 2\cos\frac{\vartheta}{2} \right)^{N^2} \left( 2\cos\frac{\varphi}{2} \right)^D \\
\times \int_0^1 dt \left\langle A^d_\mu(x) A^e_\mu(x) \right\rangle \left\langle \bar{c}^a(t) c_b(t) + \frac{1}{2} \delta^b_a \right\rangle,$$
(4.11)

where once again the operatorial part of the argument of the gauge fields gets shifted away. The expectation value of the auxiliary fields yields a result proportional to  $\delta_b^a$  which makes the latter two terms involving the structure constants vanish by symmetry: the two planar contributions are thus equal. Subsequently, integrating over the auxiliary fields using (4.9) provides

$$\frac{1}{8} \begin{pmatrix} D \\ r \end{pmatrix} \int_{\Lambda^{-2}}^{\infty} \frac{dT e^{-m^2 T}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} T^{\frac{D}{2}}} \left( f_{acd} f_{ace} + d_{acd} d_{ace} \right) \int d^D x \int_0^1 dt \left\langle A^d_{\mu}(x) A^e_{\mu}(x) \right\rangle, \tag{4.12}$$

where we will again need either r = 0 (r = 1) for the ghost (gauge) contribution.

#### 4.2 Double vertex insertion

At second order in the expansion of the exponential we find terms quadratic, cubic and quartic in the field; for the  $\beta$ -function it suffices to determine the quadratic pieces. To begin with, we get our first contribution from the field strength tensor involving the auxiliary spin fields. The planar terms are:

$$\frac{1}{4} \int_{\Lambda^{-2}}^{\infty} \frac{dT e^{-m^2 T}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} T^{\frac{D-2}{2}}} \int d^D x \left(\pm d_{abc} + if_{abc}\right) \left(\pm d_{rst} + if_{rst}\right) \\
\times \int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{d\varphi}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} e^{i\vartheta \left(1 - \frac{N^2}{2}\right)} e^{i\varphi \left(r - \frac{D}{2}\right)} \left(2\cos\frac{\vartheta}{2}\right)^{N^2} \left(2\cos\frac{\varphi}{2}\right)^D \\
\times \int_{0}^{1} dt \int_{0}^{1} dt' \left\langle F_{\mu\nu}^c(x_{\pm}) F_{\alpha\beta}^t(x'_{\pm}) \right\rangle \left\langle \bar{\psi}^{\mu}(t)\psi^{\nu}(t)\bar{\psi}^{\alpha}(t')\psi^{\beta}(t') \right\rangle \\
\times \left\langle \left(\bar{c}^a(t)c_b(t) + \frac{1}{2}\delta^a_b\right) \left(\bar{c}^r(t')c_s(t') + \frac{1}{2}\delta^r_s\right) \right\rangle, \tag{4.13}$$

where  $x'_{\pm} := x_{\pm}(t')$ . Now we need not contract  $\bar{\psi}$  and  $\psi$  at equal times due to tracelessness of the field strength tensors (which is why this term does not give anything at first order). This leaves us with the surviving contraction  $\langle \bar{\psi}^{\mu}(t)\psi^{\nu}(t)\bar{\psi}^{\alpha}(t')\psi^{\beta}(t')\rangle = -\delta^{\mu\beta}\delta^{\alpha\nu}\Delta(t - t';\varphi)\Delta(t' - t;\varphi) = \delta^{\mu\beta}\delta^{\alpha\nu}\left(2\cos\frac{\varphi}{2}\right)^{-2}$ . The Kronecker  $\delta$ 's contract the indices on the field strength tensors to form tr  $[F^c(x_{\pm}) \cdot F^t(x'_{\pm})]$ . Turning to the colour fields we need

$$\left\langle \left( \bar{c}^{a}(t)c_{b}(t) + \frac{1}{2}\delta_{b}^{a} \right) \left( \bar{c}^{r}(t')c_{s}(t') + \frac{1}{2}\delta_{s}^{r} \right) \right\rangle$$
$$= \delta_{b}^{a}\delta_{s}^{r} \left[ \Delta(0;\vartheta) - \frac{1}{2} \right]^{2} - \delta_{s}^{a}\delta_{b}^{r}\Delta(t-t';\vartheta)\Delta(t'-t;\vartheta)$$
$$= \delta_{b}^{a}\delta_{s}^{r} \left( \frac{i}{2}\tan\frac{\vartheta}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \right)^{2} + \delta_{s}^{a}\delta_{b}^{r} \left( 2\cos\frac{\vartheta}{2} \right)^{-2}.$$
(4.14)

Putting this together we get a contribution

$$\frac{1}{4} \int_{\Lambda^{-2}}^{\infty} \frac{dT \, e^{-m^2 T}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} T^{\frac{D-2}{2}}} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{d\varphi}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} e^{i\vartheta \left(1 - \frac{N^2}{2}\right)} e^{i\varphi \left(r - \frac{D}{2}\right)} \left(2\cos\frac{\vartheta}{2}\right)^{N^2} \left(2\cos\frac{\varphi}{2}\right)^{D-2} \\
\times \int d^D x \left[ d_{aac} d_{rrt} \left(\frac{i}{2}\tan\frac{\vartheta}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 + \left(d_{abc} d_{abt} + f_{abc} f_{abt}\right) \left(2\cos\frac{\vartheta}{2}\right)^{-2} \right] \\
\times \int_{0}^{1} dt \int_{0}^{1} dt' \left\langle \operatorname{tr} \left(F^c(x_{\pm}) \cdot F^t(x'_{\pm})\right) \right\rangle.$$
(4.15)

To complete the integrals over the modular parameters we need (4.9) with the additional identity

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{d\varphi}{2\pi} e^{i\varphi\left(r-\frac{D}{2}\right)} \left(2\cos\frac{\varphi}{2}\right)^{D-2n} = \oint \frac{d\omega}{2\pi i} \omega^{r-(n+1)} \left(1+\frac{1}{\omega}\right)^{D-2n}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} D-2n\\ r-n \end{pmatrix}; \quad D-2n \ge 0, \quad r-n \ge 0.$$
(4.16)

Armed with these results we first note that

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} e^{i\vartheta \left(1 - \frac{N^2}{2}\right)} \left(2\cos\frac{\vartheta}{2}\right)^{N^2} \left(\frac{i}{2}\tan\frac{\vartheta}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 = \frac{N^2 - 4}{4} - \frac{N^2 - 2}{2} + \frac{N^2}{4} = 0$$
(4.17)

which kills the first contribution in (4.15). The other contribution requires

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{d\varphi}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} e^{i\vartheta \left(1 - \frac{N^{2}}{2}\right)} e^{i\varphi \left(r - \frac{D}{2}\right)} \left(2\cos\frac{\vartheta}{2}\right)^{N^{2} - 2} \left(2\cos\frac{\varphi}{2}\right)^{D - 2} = \begin{pmatrix}D - 2\\r - 1\end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{cases} 1 \quad \text{gauge} \\ 0 \quad \text{ghost} \end{cases}$$

$$(4.18)$$

so that we finally produce a gauge contribution

$$\frac{1}{4} \int_{\Lambda^{-2}}^{\infty} \frac{dT e^{-m^2 T}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} T^{\frac{D-2}{2}}} (d_{abc} d_{abt} + f_{abc} f_{abt}) \int d^D x \int_0^1 dt \int_0^1 dt' \left\langle \operatorname{tr} \left( F^c(x_{\pm}) \cdot F_t(x_{\pm}') \right) \right\rangle.$$
(4.19)

Note there is no contribution from the ghost sector with r = 0, where no pole appears in (4.16). This is in agreement with the fact that the field strength tensor does not enter the ghost action (see (2.24), for example) — the auxiliary colour fields correctly project this contribution out of the effective action when r = 0 and count it for the gauge field when r = 1.

Proceeding with further contributions in the expansion of (4.1) at second order, first note that there can be no cross-term mixing between the  $\mathcal{F}$ -term and the  $\mathcal{V}$ -term at this order because self-contractions between the  $\bar{\psi}$  and  $\psi$  produce traces of F. Therefore, we consider two insertions of the  $\mathcal{V}$ -term that yield terms quadratic, cubic and quartic in the gauge potential. We are concerned only with the quadratic contributions which take the form

$$-\frac{1}{4}\int_{\Lambda^{-2}}^{\infty}\frac{dT\,e^{-m^{2}T}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}T^{\frac{D}{2}}}\int_{0}^{2\pi}\frac{d\varphi}{2\pi}\int_{0}^{2\pi}\frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi}\,e^{i\vartheta\left(1-\frac{N^{2}}{2}\right)}e^{i\varphi\left(r-\frac{D}{2}\right)}\left(2\cos\frac{\vartheta}{2}\right)^{N^{2}}\left(2\cos\frac{\varphi}{2}\right)^{D}$$

$$\times\int d^{D}x\left(if_{abc}\pm d_{abc}\right)\left(if_{rst}\pm d_{rst}\right)\int_{0}^{1}dt\int_{0}^{1}dt'$$

$$\times\left\langle A_{\mu}^{c}(x_{\pm})A_{\nu}^{t}(x_{\pm}')p^{\mu}(t)p^{\nu}(t')\right\rangle\left\langle \left(\bar{c}^{a}(t)c_{b}(t)+\frac{1}{2}\delta_{b}^{a}\right)\left(\bar{c}^{r}(t')c_{s}(t')+\frac{1}{2}\delta_{s}^{r}\right)\right\rangle.$$

$$(4.20)$$

For the contractions of the colour fields we re-use (4.14) and recall that its first term integrates to zero. So we are left with the second contribution which after some shifts of indices becomes

$$\frac{1}{4} \int_{\Lambda^{-2}}^{\infty} \frac{dT \, e^{-m^2 T}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} T^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{d\varphi}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} \, e^{i\vartheta \left(1 - \frac{N^2}{2}\right)} e^{i\varphi \left(r - \frac{D}{2}\right)} \left(2\cos\frac{\vartheta}{2}\right)^{N^2 - 2} \left(2\cos\frac{\varphi}{2}\right)^D \\
\times \int d^D x \left(if_{abc} \pm d_{abc}\right) \left(if_{abt} \mp d_{abt}\right) \int_{0}^{1} dt \int_{0}^{1} dt' \left\langle A^c_{\mu}(x_{\pm}) A^t_{\nu}(x'_{\pm}) p^{\mu}(t) p^{\nu}(t') \right\rangle. \quad (4.21)$$

Integrating over the Lorentz fields gives a factor  $\begin{pmatrix} D \\ r \end{pmatrix}$  whilst integrating over the colour fields multiplies this by unity. This leaves

$$-\frac{1}{4} \binom{D}{r} \int_{\Lambda^{-2}}^{\infty} \frac{dT \, e^{-m^2 T}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} T^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int d^D x \left( f_{abc} f_{abt} + d_{abc} d_{abt} \right) \\ \times \int_0^1 dt \int_0^1 dt' \left\langle A_{\mu}^{c+}(t) A_{\nu}^{t+}(t') p^{\mu}(t) p^{\nu}(t') \right\rangle$$
(4.22)

where again the cross terms  $f_{bac}d_{abd}$  vanish by symmetry.

In total, then, we have found that the planar (left and right) terms in the expansion of the effective action up to quadratic order in the gauge field that contribute to the UV divergences of the two-point function are, for r = 0, 1,

$$\Gamma[A]_{1,r}^{\pm} = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Lambda^{-2}}^{\infty} \frac{dT}{T} \frac{e^{-m^{2}T}}{(4\pi T)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int d^{D}x \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} D \\ r \end{pmatrix} \left[ \int_{0}^{1} dt \left( \mp \sqrt{T} d_{aac} \langle A_{\mu}^{c}(x) p_{\mu} \rangle \right. \right. \right. \right. \\ \left. - \frac{T}{a} \left( f_{acd} f_{ace} + d_{acd} d_{ace} \right) \left\langle A_{\mu}^{d}(x) A_{\mu}^{e}(x) \right\rangle \right) \\ \left. + \frac{T}{2} \left( f_{abc} f_{abt} + d_{abc} d_{abt} \right) \int_{0}^{1} dt \int_{0}^{1} dt' \left\langle A_{\mu}^{c}(x_{\pm}) A_{\nu}^{t}(x'_{\pm}) p^{\mu} p^{\nu} \right\rangle \right] \\ \left. - \frac{1 - (-1)^{r}}{4} T^{2} (f_{abc} f_{abt} + d_{abc} d_{abt}) \int_{0}^{1} dt \int_{0}^{1} dt \int_{0}^{1} dt' \left\langle \operatorname{tr} \left( F^{c}(x_{\pm}) \cdot F_{t}(x'_{\pm}) \right) \right\rangle \right\}.$$
(4.23)

Hence,

$$\Gamma[A] = \sum_{l=\pm} \left( \Gamma[A]_{1,1}^l - 2\Gamma[A]_{1,0}^l \right)$$
(4.24)

is the final expression for the (planar part of the) one-loop effective action limited to quadratic order in the gauge field. Whilst this result could have been arrive at from expanding (2.33) and (2.45), the unification of the two sectors and the efficient generation of the path ordering would become ever more advantageous for higher order calculations.

#### 5 Parameter integrals and the $\beta$ -function

In this section we complete the calculation of (4.24) by evaluating the functional integrations in the phase-space variable and the Schwinger proper time integral.

#### 5.1 One-point function

As mentioned above, below (4.7), for a single insertion the argument of the gauge field can be shifted. Hence the left and right part of the one-point function reported in (4.10) are opposite to each other and their sum vanishes. In fact, since  $\langle A_{\mu}(x)p_{\mu}\rangle = A_{\mu}(x) \langle p_{\mu}\rangle = 0$ those contributions independently vanish. Although the vanishing of the one-point function would seem to suggest that the vacuum is stable and ripe to be expanded around, we recall from the Abelian, U(1), case that non-planar diagrams spoil this due to IR divergences at quadratic order in A. Indeed, as investigated non-perturbatively in [67], negative IR divergences cause a severe complication for the ground state (the authors report that it could be avoided in a certain double scaling limit). We shall not investigate further the stability of the vacuum here, instead continuing with our determination of the one-loop  $\beta$ function. In the following we turn then to consider the planar, UV divergences at quadratic order in the gauge field.

#### 5.2 Two-point function

Let us consider the contributions to (4.24) coming from the first quadratic pieces in (4.23). Since these come from single vertex insertions, the integral over  $x \in \mathbb{R}^D$  eliminates the operatorial dependence in the fields, and again the left and right parts are equal. Summing the two sectors according to (4.24) yields an over factor of (D-2). Hence,

$$\Gamma[A] \supset \frac{D-2}{4} \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \left( f_{abc} f_{abd} + d_{abc} d_{abd} \right) \int_0^\infty \frac{dT}{T^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^D} dx_0 \ A^c_\mu(x_0) \ A^d_\mu(x_0) \tag{5.1}$$

which, using the group identities reported in appendix A, reduces to

$$\frac{N(D-2)}{2(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} m^{D-2} \Gamma\left(1-\frac{D}{2},\frac{m^2}{\Lambda^2}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^D} dx \ A^a_\mu(x) A^a_\mu(x) \,.$$
(5.2)

Above we have restored the IR- and UV-regulators m and  $\Lambda$ , respectively. Thus the Schwinger integral is seen to produce a Gamma function. The previous contribution would give a mass to the gauge fields which, because of gauge invariance, is expected to cancel.

Next, let us consider the right-right Moyal contribution of the second quadratic term from (4.23). This contributes to (4.24) as

$$-\frac{D-2}{4(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}}(f_{abc}f_{abt} + d_{abc}d_{abt}) \times \\ \times \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dT}{T^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{D}} dx \int_{0}^{1} dt \, dt' \left\langle A_{\mu}^{c}(x_{+}(t)) \, p_{\mu}(t) \, A_{\nu}^{t}(x_{+}(t')) \, p_{\nu}(t') \right\rangle \\ = -\frac{N(D-2)}{2(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dT}{T^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int d\bar{k} \, \tilde{A}_{\mu}^{a}(k) \, \tilde{A}_{\nu}^{a}(-k) \times \\ \times \int_{0}^{1} dt dt' \, \left\langle p_{\mu}(t) \, p_{\nu}(t') \, e^{i\sqrt{T} \, k \, [x(t) - x(t')] - \frac{i}{\sqrt{T}} \, \theta k \, [p(t) - p(t')]} \right\rangle.$$
(5.3)

If we expand the exponential to order  $\mathcal{O}(T)$  in order to determine the UV-divergent part we obtain

$$-\frac{N(D-2)}{2(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dT}{T^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int d\bar{k} \; \tilde{A}^{a}_{\mu} \tilde{A}^{a*}_{\nu} \times \\ \times \int_{0}^{1} dt dt' \left[ \frac{1}{2} \,\delta_{\mu\nu} + T \,\delta_{\mu\nu} \,k^{2} \,G(t-t') + T \,k_{\mu}k_{\nu} \,\dot{G}^{2}(t-t') \right] \,.$$
(5.4)

Since the contribution of the left-left part is identical we get (applying  $\dot{G}(t)^2 = \frac{1}{4} + 2G(t)$  and  $\int_0^1 dt \, dt' \, G(t-t') = -\frac{1}{12}$ )

$$\Gamma[A] \supset -\frac{N(D-2)}{2(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int d\bar{k} \ \tilde{A}^{a}_{\mu}(k) \tilde{A}^{a*}_{\nu} \times \\ \times \left[ m^{D-2} \Gamma\left(1 - \frac{D}{2}, \frac{m^{2}}{\Lambda^{2}}\right) \delta_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{6} m^{D-4} \Gamma\left(2 - \frac{D}{2}, \frac{m^{2}}{\Lambda^{2}}\right) \left(\delta_{\mu\nu} k^{2} - k_{\mu} k_{\nu}\right) \right].$$
(5.5)

We have used expression (2.42), (2.43) and (2.44) in the computation of the expectation values. In particular, since the mean value  $\langle p(t)p(t')\rangle$  does not depend on t, t', then any expectation value involving the combination p(t) - p(t') vanishes (see also appendix B for an explicit calculation). Expression (5.5) shows a mass term which exactly cancels (5.2). Moreover, there is a logarithmically divergent term that corresponds to a transversal propagator.

Finally, we consider the last right-right Moyal quadratic contribution from (4.23),

$$\frac{1}{4(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} (f_{abc}f_{abt} + d_{abc}d_{abt}) \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dT}{T^{\frac{D}{2}-1}} \int dx_{0} \int_{0}^{1} dt dt' \left\langle F_{\mu\nu}^{c}(x_{+}(t)) F_{\nu\mu}^{t}(x_{+}(t')) \right\rangle \\
= -\frac{N}{2(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dT}{T^{\frac{D}{2}-1}} \int_{0}^{1} dt dt' \int d\bar{k} \; \tilde{F}_{\mu\nu}^{a} \tilde{F}_{\mu\nu}^{a*} \left\langle e^{i\sqrt{T} \, k \, [x(t)-x(t')] - \frac{i}{\sqrt{T}} \, \theta k \, [p(t)-p(t')]} \right\rangle, \quad (5.6)$$

which, expanding the exponential to order  $\mathcal{O}(T^0)$ , provides divergent contribution

$$-\frac{N}{2(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}}m^{D-4}\Gamma\left(2-\frac{D}{2},\frac{m^2}{\Lambda^2}\right)\int dx \ F^a_{\mu\nu}(x) F^a_{\mu\nu}(x) \,.$$
(5.7)

Thus, once again adding the other Moyal polarisation, results in the effective action quadratic contribution

$$\Gamma[A] \supset -\frac{4N}{2(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} m^{D-4} \Gamma\left(2 - \frac{D}{2}, \frac{m^2}{\Lambda^2}\right) \int d\bar{k} \ \tilde{A}^c_{\mu} \tilde{A}^{c*}_{\nu}(\delta_{\mu\nu} k^2 - k_{\mu}k_{\nu}).$$
(5.8)

# 5.3 The $\beta$ -function

We have now all the ingredients to obtain the  $\beta$ -function for  $U_{\star}(N)$  in D = 4. As is well known the  $\beta$ -function plays a central role in renormalisation of a quantum field theory and contains the information about the dependence of the couplings on momentum scale. In the particular case of the pure Yang-Mills theory on non-commutative space we are studying here we take into account the divergent one-loop contributions (5.2), (5.5) and (5.8) to obtain for the quadratic effective action,

$$\Gamma_{\text{eff}}^{(2)} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} d\bar{k} \; \tilde{A}^a_\mu \, \tilde{A}^{a*}_\mu \left( \delta_{\mu\nu} \, k^2 - k_\mu k_\nu \right) \; \left\{ \frac{1}{2g^2} - \frac{1}{32\pi^2} \left( -\frac{N}{3} + 4N \right) \, \Gamma \left( 0, \frac{m^2}{\Lambda^2} \right) \right\} \\ = \frac{1}{2g^2} \left\{ 1 - \frac{11}{48\pi^2} \, g^2 N \, \log \left( \frac{\Lambda^2}{m^2} \right) \right\} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} dx \; A^a_\mu \left( -\delta_{\mu\nu} \, \partial^2 + \partial_\mu \partial_\nu \right) A^a_\nu \,. \tag{5.9}$$

The one-loop contribution to the  $\beta$ -function is determined from the running of the coupling constant, g, with energy-momentum scale that is implied by (5.9). Interpreting the coefficient — which we note is independent of the non-commutativity parameter  $\theta$  — to the space-time integral as defining the coupling at momentum scale  $\Lambda$  we get

$$\beta(g)\big|_{\mathbf{U}_{\star}(N)} := \Lambda \,\partial_{\Lambda}g = -\frac{11N}{48\pi^2}g^3\,,\tag{5.10}$$

that is in accordance with [28] (see also [68]). For the particular  $U_{\star}(1)$  case, the nonstandard normalisation of the generator requires  $g \to \sqrt{2}g$ , which gives

$$\beta(g)\big|_{\mathcal{U}(1)^{\star}} = -\frac{11N}{24\pi^2}g^3\,,\tag{5.11}$$

first computed in [28] and [29].

#### 6 Discussion

We have proposed a new worldline approach to the effective actions of the U(N) noncommutative gauge theories. As for their Abelian counterparts, these theories are linked to phase-space worldline path integrals. The main new ingredients we present here are sets of auxiliary fields that allow a suitable treatment of color degrees of freedom and the non-trivial Lorentz structure without the need to introduce a path ordering, that also retains manifest gauge-invariance throughout calculations. Moreover, such auxiliary fields allow the unification of the computation of the gauge part and ghost part of the effective action in a single worldline model, distinguished only by the choice of integer occupation numbers corresponding to the different sectors. This has obvious advantages since, as we have illustrated here, one may calculate path integrals for the two sectors simultaneously, whilst working in phase-space avoids many of the familiar ordering ambiguities of operators in non-commutative space.

In this paper we have focussed on calculating the  $\beta$ -function, which requires expansion of our path integrals to quadratic order, finding agreement with existing literature. However our path integral is general, in that higher order contributions could be determined with the same method (for example, the  $\beta$ -function of U(1) theory on non-commutative space time was computed from the two point function in [12] where it was then verified by examination of the three and four point functions). The only difference would be that expectation values of products of a greater number of auxiliary fields would appear, but the path ordered trace would still be produced by their contractions. We also wish to highlight that the path integral (4.1) can be immediately adapted to calculate one-loop gluon scattering amplitudes by specialising the gauge potential to a sum over plane waves; this ongoing work is a further application of our approach.

Note that although the divergences relevant for the determination of the  $\beta$ -function required examination only of the planar contributions (involving products of the gauge field evaluated at  $x_+$  only or at  $x_-$  only), our worldline scheme *a priori* includes also the contributions of non-planar Feynman diagrams. These can be included in the perturbative expansion of the worldline action (and come with the familiar twisting term in the exponent); however, the perturbative computation in this non-planar sector would manifest the presence of vacuum tachyonic instabilities,<sup>7</sup> for which non-perturbative techniques are required (see, e.g. [67]) for a reliable description. The extension to irreducible representations of U(N) with mixed symmetry is also immediate with the same technique as reported in [23, 24]. Given the recent analysis of [69] it would be worth investigating the worldline representation of the propagator (requiring open worldlines) of both matter fields and photons or gluons using the phase space techniques we have presented here, or to include an additional external field that is well known to be accessible using first quantised techniques.

As is well-known, renormalisation of field theories on Moyal spacetime could be spoiled by UV/IR mixing. Two-loop calculations on the noncommutative torus show that compactness could tame IR singularities [70] (see [71] for a study at one-loop order). In the supersymmetric case, the renormalisability (finiteness) of  $\mathcal{N} = 1, 2 (\mathcal{N} = 4)$  Super-Yang-Mills is retained in non-commutative space [36] in the fundamental representation of U(N), where UV- and IR-divergences cancel. On the other hand a successful mechanism discovered by Grosse and Wulkenhaar [72] has lead to the formulation of renormalisable field theories on Moyal spacetime through the introduction of an appropriate (harmonic oscillator) background. A similar mechanism on a scalar field under a magnetic background provides an exactly solvable but translation invariant model [73, 74]. Although the Grosse-Wulkenhaar (GW) term is difficult to implement in gauge theories, a very interesting candidate for a renormalisable NC gauge theory, known as induced gauge theory [75, 76], introduces the GW term through covariant coordinates [77] so that gauge invariance is preserved. Also, an appealing extension of this model — and with a trivial vacuum — has been formulated in terms of a more general class of covariant coordinates and an appropriate gradation of Moyal algebra [78]. We expect our results can help in the involved perturbative study of these and similar models (see e.g. [79]).

We believe that this worldline theory could also be useful for future work incorporating gravitational interactions (as have previously been studied using first quantised techniques [80, 81]) or to study higher loop-order corrections to the  $\beta$ -function using existing worldline methods proven to have certain advantages over the standard formalism. In particular, since our worldline theory is valid for off-shell amplitudes, it can be used to form higher order diagrams by "sewing" pairs of gauge particles (or by incorporating virtual gluons into a modification of the worldline Green functions [82]). Moreover, an obvious extension to this work (or even the U<sub>\*</sub>(1) version) would be to include matter fields

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>For a perturbative computation of this IR divergence in the worldline approach see [12] where the IR divergence showed up in the non-planar contribution to the photon self-energy.

coupled to the Yang-Mills fields and to study the modifications to the one-loop effective action due to such interactions in the spirit of Euler-Heisenberg effective actions. One more natural direction of this series of work would be the study of Schwinger electron-positron pair production by a constant external electric field in non-commutative QED which has been studied in [83] or the anomalous dipole moments in a magnetic field examined in the Abelian case in [84]; for a review on strong field and non-commutative QED see [85].

### Acknowledgments

The authors are pleased to thank Christian Schubert for useful discussions and comments on the manuscript. The work of NA was supported by IBS (Institute for Basic Science) under grant No. IBS-R012-D1. JPE thanks PRODEP (Project 671/PRODEP/2017) for support during this work and Anabel Trejo for helpful conversations. The work of PP is supported by CONICET.

# A Some group identities

It is useful to note the following identities involving the structure constants for different choices of Lie group. For  $U_{\star}(N)$  on non-commutative space we find

$$f_{abc}f_{abd} + d_{abc}d_{abd} = \text{diag}(2N, 2N, 2N, 2N, \dots, 2N) = 2N\delta_{cd}.$$
 (A.1)

In a commutative space the equivalent results for U(N) and SU(N) do not involve the symmetric structure constants, so we find (the indices range over integers  $\{0, 1, ..., N\}$  for U(N) and over  $\{1, 2, ..., N\}$  for SU(N))

$$f_{abc}f_{abd} = \begin{cases} \operatorname{diag}\left(N, N, \dots, N\right) & \operatorname{SU}(N) \\ \operatorname{diag}\left(0, N, N, \dots, N\right) & \operatorname{U}(N) \end{cases}$$
(A.2)

Finally, although  $SU_{\star}(N)$  is not a consistent Yang-Mills theory, it is still possible to compute the symmetric structure constants for this group and for comparison we record the result (indices range over integers  $\{1, 2, ..., N\}$ )

$$f_{abc}f_{abd} + d_{abc}d_{abd} = \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{2(N^2 - 2)}{N}, \frac{2(N^2 - 2)}{N}, \dots, \frac{2(N^2 - 2)}{N}\right).$$
(A.3)

It is useful to note that for the unitary group the sum decomposes (the first part represents the commutative result) as:

$$f_{abc}f_{abd} = \operatorname{diag}\left(0, N, N, \dots, N\right) \tag{A.4}$$

$$d_{abc}d_{abd} = \operatorname{diag}\left(2N, N, N, \dots N\right). \tag{A.5}$$

We also have  $(d_{cab} + if_{cab})(d_{dba} + if_{dba}) = f_{abc}f_{abd} + d_{abc}d_{abd}$  due to cancellation of the cross terms.

# **B** Worldline Green functions

We derive the worldline Green functions associated to the phase-space degrees of freedom x and p by considering the generating functional of

$$\mathcal{Z}[k,j] := \left\langle e^{i\int_0^1 dt\{k(t)p(t)+j(t)x(t)\}} \right\rangle = \frac{\int \mathscr{D}x(t)\mathscr{D}p(t) \ e^{-\int_0^1 dt\{p^2-ip\dot{x}\}} e^{i\int_0^1 dt\{kp+jx\}}}{\int \mathscr{D}x(t)\mathscr{D}p(t) \ e^{-\int_0^1 dt\{p^2-ip\dot{x}\}}}, \quad (B.1)$$

with periodic boundary conditions on the particle trajectories x(t) and without restriction on their momenta, p(t); however, since these conditions involve a zero mode, we will integrate over the subspace of trajectories which are orthogonal to this zero mode.

Let us first write expression (B.1) as

$$\left\langle e^{i\int_{0}^{1}dt\{k(t)p(t)+j(t)x(t)\}} \right\rangle = \frac{\int \mathscr{D}Z(t) \ e^{-\frac{1}{2}\int_{0}^{1}dt \ Z(t)^{T} \ D \ Z(t)} \ e^{i\int_{0}^{1}dt \ Z(t)^{T} \ J(t)}}{\int \mathscr{D}Z(t) \ e^{-\int_{0}^{1}dt \ Z(t)^{T} \ D \ Z(t)}}, \tag{B.2}$$

where Z(t) denote trajectories in phase-space and J(t) the corresponding external sources,

$$Z(t) = \begin{pmatrix} p(t) \\ x(t) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad J(t) = \begin{pmatrix} k(t) \\ j(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (B.3)

We have also defined the matricial operator

$$D = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -i\partial_t \\ i\partial_t & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (B.4)

For periodic boundary conditions D is symmetric but has a zero mode

$$Z_0(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix} \tag{B.5}$$

and is therefore not invertible. However, expanding about the loop center of mass,  $x(t) \to x_0 + q(t)$ , the deviation q(t) must be periodic and integrate to zero (string inspired boundary conditions, q(t) = q(0) and  $\int_0^1 dt \, x(t) = 0$ ). Then the inverse in this subspace orthogonal to  $Z_0(t)$  is given by

$$D^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & -\frac{i}{2}\epsilon(t-t') + i(t-t') \\ \frac{i}{2}\epsilon(t-t') - i(t-t') & -|t-t'| + (t-t')^2 + \frac{1}{6} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (B.6)

We can now complete the square in expression (B.2) and express the expectation value in terms of the inverse operator  $D^{-1}$ . The result reads

$$\left\langle e^{i\int_{0}^{1}dt\{k(t)p(t)+j(t)x(t)\}}\right\rangle = e^{-\frac{1}{2}\int_{0}^{1}dt\,J(t)^{T}\,D^{-1}\,J(t)}$$
$$= \exp\left(-\int\int dtdt'\left\{\frac{1}{4}\,k(t)k(t') + g(t,t')j(t)j(t') + \frac{i}{2}\,h(t,t')k(t)j(t')\right\}\right), \quad (B.7)$$

with

$$g(t,t') := -\frac{1}{2}|t-t'| + \frac{1}{2}(t-t')^2 + \frac{1}{12},$$
(B.8)

$$h(t,t') := 2\partial_t g(t,t') = -\epsilon(t-t') + 2(t-t').$$
(B.9)

When employing the worldline formalism to compute one-loop gluon amplitudes, the source reads  $j^{\mu}(t) \sim \sum_{i} k_{i}^{\mu} \delta(t-t_{i})$ , where  $k_{i}$  are the gluon momenta. Since the latter is coupled to  $x_{0}^{\mu} + q^{\mu}(t)$ , the integral over the zero mode  $x_{0}$  enforces the overall momentum conservation, and in turn the current j(t) satisfies

$$\int_0^1 dt \, j(t) = 0 \,. \tag{B.10}$$

Since under condition (B.10) terms in g(t, t') which depend only on t or on t' (but not on both), as well as terms in h(t, t') which do not depend on t', are irrelevant in (B.7), we can instead use the simplified Green functions:

$$G(t - t') := -\frac{1}{2}|t - t'| + \frac{1}{2}(t - t')^2, \qquad (B.11)$$

$$H(t - t') := 2\dot{G}(t - t') = -\epsilon(t - t') + 2(t - t'), \qquad (B.12)$$

that are homogeneous string-inspired Green functions. From here, it is easy to derive the Wick contractions by functional differentiation with respect to the sources at fixed times:

$$\langle p_{\mu}(t)p_{\nu}(t')\rangle = \frac{1}{2} \,\delta_{\mu\nu} \,, \langle x_{\mu}(t)x_{\nu}(t')\rangle = 2 \,\delta_{\mu\nu} \,G(t-t') \,, \langle p_{\mu}(t)x_{\nu}(t')\rangle = i \,\delta_{\mu\nu} \,\dot{G}(t-t') \,,$$
(B.13)

as reported in the main text. Moreover, the correlator (B.7) becomes

$$\left\langle e^{i\int_{0}^{1}dt\{k(t)p(t)+j(t)x(t)\}}\right\rangle = \exp\left(-\int\int dtdt'\left\{\frac{1}{4}k(t)k(t') + G(t-t')j(t)j(t') + i\dot{G}(t-t')k(t)j(t')\right\}\right).$$
 (B.14)

Insertions of x and p can now be generated by derivation with respect to j and k.

As far as the auxiliary field are concerned, the same process can be used to derive the two-point functions. However it is easy to check that the Green function of  $\partial_t$  consistent with boundary conditions (3.20) is

$$\Delta(t-s;\varphi) = \frac{1}{2\cos\frac{\varphi}{2}} \Big[ e^{i\frac{\varphi}{2}} \Theta(t-s) - e^{-i\frac{\varphi}{2}} \Theta(s-t) \Big]$$

which satisfies the following properties

$$\Delta(0;\varphi) = \frac{i}{2} \tan \frac{\varphi}{2}$$
$$\Delta(x;\varphi)\Delta(-x;\varphi) = -\frac{1}{\left(2\cos\frac{\varphi}{2}\right)^2}$$
(B.15)

that are employed several times in the manuscript. The generating functional of the fields  $\bar{c}$  and c is

$$\left\langle \mathrm{e}^{-\int dt \left\{ \bar{l}^a c_a + \bar{c}^a l_a \right\}} \right\rangle = \exp\left( \int \int dt ds \, \bar{l}^a(t) \Delta(t - s; \varphi) l_a(s) \right) \tag{B.16}$$

from which insertions of  $\bar{c}$  and c can be produced by differentiating with respect to (Grassmann) sources l and  $\bar{l}$ . Here we have used that  $\Delta(t-s;\varphi)^* = \Delta(s-t;-\varphi) = -\Delta(t-s;\varphi)$ .

To terminate this section let us compute the correlator

$$C_{\mu\nu}(t_1, t_2) := \left\langle p_{\mu}(t_1) p_{\nu}(t_2) e^{i\sqrt{T} \, k \, [x(t_1) - x(t_2)] - \frac{i}{\sqrt{T}} \, \theta k \, [p(t_1) - p(t_2)]} \right\rangle \,, \tag{B.17}$$

that appears in the evaluation of the quadratic part of the effective action (cf. (5.3)). Firstly, notice that

$$\left\langle p_{\mu}(t_i)(p_{\alpha}(t_1) - p_{\beta}(t_2)) \right\rangle = 0 \tag{B.18}$$

as the p correlator is t-independent. Thus,

$$C_{\mu\nu}(t_{1},t_{2}) := \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \delta_{\mu\nu} - Tk_{\alpha}k_{\beta} \left\langle p_{\mu}(t_{1})(x^{\alpha}(t_{1}) - x^{\alpha}(t_{2})) \right\rangle \left\langle p_{\nu}(t_{2})(x^{\beta}(t_{1}) - x^{\beta}(t_{2})) \right\rangle \right\}$$
$$\times \left\langle e^{i\sqrt{T}k\left[x(t_{1}) - x(t_{2})\right] - \frac{i}{\sqrt{T}}\theta k\left[p(t_{1}) - p(t_{2})\right]} \right\rangle$$
$$= \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \delta_{\mu\nu} + Tk^{2}\dot{G}^{2}(t_{1} - t_{2}) \right\} \left\langle e^{i\sqrt{T}k\left[x(t_{1}) - x(t_{2})\right] - \frac{i}{\sqrt{T}}\theta k\left[p(t_{1}) - p(t_{2})\right]} \right\rangle$$
(B.19)

where, in the last equality we have used the correlators (B.13). The leftover expression can be easily obtained by plugging into the generic formula (B.14) the suitable currents

$$j^{\mu}(t) = \sqrt{T}k^{\mu} \left( \delta(t - t_1) - \delta(t - t_2) \right) k^{\mu}(t) = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{T}} (\theta k)^{\mu} \left( \delta(t - t_1) - \delta(t - t_2) \right),$$
(B.20)

which finally yield

$$C_{\mu\nu}(t_1, t_2) = \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \delta_{\mu\nu} + Tk^2 \dot{G}^2(t_1 - t_2) \right\} e^{2Tk^2 G(t_1 - t_2)} .$$
(B.21)

Note in particular, that the  $\theta$ -dependent part of the correlator identically vanishes, thus this two-point function provides a fully planar contribution. On the other hand, a mixed correlator  $\langle A_{\mu}(x_{+})p^{\mu}(t)A_{\nu}(x'_{-})p^{\nu}(t')\rangle$  would have a  $\theta$ -dependent (twist) part in the exponential, since the delta functions in the current  $k^{\mu}(t)$  of (B.20) would appear with a relative positive sign, and would thus contribute to the non-planar part of the effective action.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

#### References

- M.R. Douglas and N.A. Nekrasov, Noncommutative field theory, Rev. Mod. Phys. 73 (2001) 977 [hep-th/0106048] [INSPIRE].
- [2] R.J. Szabo, Quantum field theory on noncommutative spaces, Phys. Rept. 378 (2003) 207 [hep-th/0109162] [INSPIRE].
- M.M. Faruk, M. Al Alvi, W. Ahmed, M.M. Rahman and A.B. Apu, Noncommutative scalar fields in compact spaces: quantization and implications, PTEP 2017 (2017) 093B02
   [arXiv:1707.01643] [INSPIRE].
- [4] A. Connes, M.R. Douglas and A.S. Schwarz, Noncommutative geometry and matrix theory: Compactification on tori, JHEP 02 (1998) 003 [hep-th/9711162] [INSPIRE].
- [5] A.Y. Alekseev, A. Recknagel and V. Schomerus, Noncommutative world volume geometries: Branes on SU(2) and fuzzy spheres, JHEP 09 (1999) 023 [hep-th/9908040] [INSPIRE].
- [6] N. Seiberg and E. Witten, String theory and noncommutative geometry, JHEP 09 (1999) 032 [hep-th/9908142] [INSPIRE].
- [7] R. Blumenhagen, A Course on Noncommutative Geometry in String Theory, Fortsch. Phys.
   62 (2014) 709 [arXiv:1403.4805] [INSPIRE].
- [8] S. Doplicher, K. Fredenhagen and J.E. Roberts, The Quantum structure of space-time at the Planck scale and quantum fields, Commun. Math. Phys. 172 (1995) 187 [hep-th/0303037]
   [INSPIRE].
- [9] S. Minwalla, M. Van Raamsdonk and N. Seiberg, Noncommutative perturbative dynamics, JHEP 02 (2000) 020 [hep-th/9912072] [INSPIRE].
- [10] R. Bonezzi, O. Corradini, S.A. Franchino Vinas and P.A.G. Pisani, Worldline approach to noncommutative field theory, J. Phys. A 45 (2012) 405401 [arXiv:1204.1013] [INSPIRE].
- Y. Kiem, S.-J. Rey, H.-T. Sato and J.-T. Yee, Anatomy of one loop effective action in noncommutative scalar field theories, Eur. Phys. J. C 22 (2002) 757 [hep-th/0107106]
   [INSPIRE].
- [12] N. Ahmadiniaz, O. Corradini, D. D'Ascanio, S. Estrada-Jiménez and P. Pisani, *Noncommutative* U(1) gauge theory from a worldline perspective, JHEP 11 (2015) 069 [arXiv:1507.07033] [INSPIRE].
- [13] Y.-j. Kiem, Y.-j. Kim, C. Ryou and H.-T. Sato, One loop noncommutative U(1) gauge theory from bosonic worldline approach, Nucl. Phys. B 630 (2002) 55 [hep-th/0112176] [INSPIRE].
- [14] Z. Bern and D.A. Kosower, Efficient calculation of one loop QCD amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 66 (1991) 1669 [INSPIRE].
- [15] M.J. Strassler, Field theory without Feynman diagrams: One loop effective actions, Nucl. Phys. B 385 (1992) 145 [hep-ph/9205205] [INSPIRE].
- [16] C. Schubert, Perturbative quantum field theory in the string inspired formalism, Phys. Rept. 355 (2001) 73 [hep-th/0101036] [INSPIRE].
- [17] M.B. Halpern and W. Siegel, The Particle Limit of Field Theory: A New Strong Coupling Expansion, Phys. Rev. D 16 (1977) 2486 [INSPIRE].
- [18] M.B. Halpern, A. Jevicki and P. Senjanovic, Field Theories in Terms of Particle-String Variables: Spin, Internal Symmetries and Arbitrary Dimension, Phys. Rev. D 16 (1977) 2476 [INSPIRE].

- [19] H.-T. Sato and M.G. Schmidt, Worldline approach to the Bern-Kosower formalism in two loop Yang-Mills theory, Nucl. Phys. B 560 (1999) 551 [hep-th/9812229] [INSPIRE].
- [20] P. Dai, Y.-t. Huang and W. Siegel, Worldgraph Approach to Yang-Mills Amplitudes from N = 2 Spinning Particle, JHEP 10 (2008) 027 [arXiv:0807.0391] [INSPIRE].
- [21] M. Reuter, M.G. Schmidt and C. Schubert, Constant external fields in gauge theory and the spin 0, 1/2, 1 path integrals, Annals Phys. **259** (1997) 313 [hep-th/9610191] [INSPIRE].
- [22] N. Ahmadiniaz, F. Bastianelli and O. Corradini, Dressed scalar propagator in a non-Abelian background from the worldline formalism, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 025035
   [arXiv:1508.05144] [INSPIRE].
- [23] O. Corradini and J.P. Edwards, Mixed symmetry tensors in the worldline formalism, JHEP
   05 (2016) 056 [arXiv:1603.07929] [INSPIRE].
- [24] J.P. Edwards and O. Corradini, Mixed symmetry Wilson-loop interactions in the worldline formalism, JHEP 09 (2016) 081 [arXiv:1607.04230] [INSPIRE].
- [25] P. Mansfield, The fermion content of the Standard Model from a simple world-line theory, Phys. Lett. B 743 (2015) 353 [arXiv:1410.7298] [INSPIRE].
- [26] J.P. Edwards, Unified theory in the worldline approach, Phys. Lett. B 750 (2015) 312
   [arXiv:1411.6540] [INSPIRE].
- [27] J.P. Edwards and O. Corradini, Worldline colour fields and non-Abelian quantum field theory, EPJ Web Conf. 182 (2018) 02038 [arXiv:1711.09314] [INSPIRE].
- [28] T. Krajewski and R. Wulkenhaar, Perturbative quantum gauge fields on the noncommutative torus, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 15 (2000) 1011 [hep-th/9903187] [INSPIRE].
- [29] C.P. Martin and D. Sánchez-Ruiz, The one loop UV divergent structure of U(1) Yang-Mills theory on noncommutative R<sup>4</sup>, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83 (1999) 476 [hep-th/9903077] [INSPIRE].
- [30] J.E. Moyal, Quantum mechanics as a statistical theory, Proc. Cambridge Phil. Soc. 45 (1949) 99 [INSPIRE].
- [31] H.J. Groenewold, On the Principles of elementary quantum mechanics, Physica 12 (1946) 405 [INSPIRE].
- [32] L. Alvarez-Gaumé and S.R. Wadia, Gauge theory on a quantum phase space, Phys. Lett. B 501 (2001) 319 [hep-th/0006219] [INSPIRE].
- [33] A. Iskauskas, A Remark on Polar Noncommutativity, Phys. Lett. B 746 (2015) 25 [arXiv:1503.03684] [INSPIRE].
- [34] J.P. Edwards, Non-commutativity in polar coordinates, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 320 [arXiv:1607.04491] [INSPIRE].
- [35] E. Chang-Young, D. Lee and Y. Lee, Noncommutative BTZ Black Hole in Polar Coordinates, Class. Quant. Grav. 26 (2009) 185001 [arXiv:0808.2330] [INSPIRE].
- [36] A.F. Ferrari et al., Towards a consistent noncommutative supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory: Superfield covariant analysis, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 085012 [hep-th/0407040] [INSPIRE].
- [37] B.S. DeWitt, Quantum Theory of Gravity. 2. The Manifestly Covariant Theory, Phys. Rev. 162 (1967) 1195 [INSPIRE].
- [38] L.F. Abbott, Introduction to the Background Field Method, Acta Phys. Polon. B 13 (1982) 33 [INSPIRE].
- [39] L.F. Abbott, M.T. Grisaru and R.K. Schaefer, The Background Field Method and the S Matrix, Nucl. Phys. B 229 (1983) 372 [INSPIRE].

- [40] N. Ahmadiniaz, C. Schubert and V.M. Villanueva, String-inspired representations of photon/gluon amplitudes, JHEP 01 (2013) 132 [arXiv:1211.1821] [INSPIRE].
- [41] N. Ahmadiniaz and C. Schubert, A covariant representation of the Ball-Chiu vertex, Nucl. Phys. B 869 (2013) 417 [arXiv:1210.2331] [INSPIRE].
- [42] N. Ahmadiniaz and C. Schubert, Gluon form factor decompositions from the worldline formalism, PoS(LL2016)052 (2016) [INSPIRE].
- [43] N. Ahmadiniaz and C. Schubert, QCD gluon vertices from the string-inspired formalism, Int. J. Mod. Phys. E 25 (2016) 1642004 [arXiv:1811.10780] [INSPIRE].
- [44] J.S. Schwinger, On gauge invariance and vacuum polarization, Phys. Rev. 82 (1951) 664 [INSPIRE].
- [45] F. Bastianelli, O. Corradini and A. Zirotti, BRST treatment of zero modes for the worldline formalism in curved space, JHEP 01 (2004) 023 [hep-th/0312064] [INSPIRE].
- [46] O. Corradini and M. Muratori, String-inspired Methods and the Worldline Formalism in Curved Space, Eur. Phys. J. Plus 133 (2018) 457 [arXiv:1808.05401] [INSPIRE].
- [47] F. Bastianelli and P. van Nieuwenhuizen, Path integrals and anomalies in curved space, Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press (2006) [INSPIRE].
- [48] F. Bastianelli, R. Bonezzi, O. Corradini and E. Latini, Particles with non abelian charges, JHEP 10 (2013) 098 [arXiv:1309.1608] [INSPIRE].
- [49] F. Bastianelli, R. Bonezzi, O. Corradini, E. Latini and K.H. Ould-Lahoucine, A worldline approach to colored particles, 2015, arXiv:1504.03617 [INSPIRE].
- [50] F. Bastianelli, O. Corradini and E. Latini, Higher spin fields from a worldline perspective, JHEP 02 (2007) 072 [hep-th/0701055] [INSPIRE].
- [51] F. Bastianelli, R. Bonezzi, O. Corradini and E. Latini, Massive and massless higher spinning particles in odd dimensions, JHEP 09 (2014) 158 [arXiv:1407.4950] [INSPIRE].
- [52] P.S. Howe, S. Penati, M. Pernici and P.K. Townsend, A Particle Mechanics Description of Antisymmetric Tensor Fields, Class. Quant. Grav. 6 (1989) 1125 [INSPIRE].
- [53] F. Bastianelli, P. Benincasa and S. Giombi, Worldline approach to vector and antisymmetric tensor fields, JHEP 04 (2005) 010 [hep-th/0503155] [INSPIRE].
- [54] F. Bastianelli, P. Benincasa and S. Giombi, Worldline approach to vector and antisymmetric tensor fields. II., JHEP 10 (2005) 114 [hep-th/0510010] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Barducci, R. Casalbuoni and L. Lusanna, Anticommuting Variables, Internal Degrees of Freedom and the Wilson Loop, Nucl. Phys. B 180 (1981) 141 [INSPIRE].
- [56] F. Bastianelli, O. Corradini and E. Latini, Spinning particles and higher spin fields on (A)dS backgrounds, JHEP 11 (2008) 054 [arXiv:0810.0188] [INSPIRE].
- [57] O. Corradini, Half-integer Higher Spin Fields in (A)dS from Spinning Particle Models, JHEP
   09 (2010) 113 [arXiv:1006.4452] [INSPIRE].
- [58] F. Bastianelli, R. Bonezzi, O. Corradini and E. Latini, Effective action for higher spin fields on (A)dS backgrounds, JHEP 12 (2012) 113 [arXiv:1210.4649] [INSPIRE].
- [59] R. Bonezzi, Induced Action for Conformal Higher Spins from Worldline Path Integrals, Universe 3 (2017) 64 [arXiv:1709.00850] [INSPIRE].
- [60] F. Bastianelli and R. Bonezzi, U(N) spinning particles and higher spin equations on complex manifolds, JHEP 03 (2009) 063 [arXiv:0901.2311] [INSPIRE].

- [61] F. Bastianelli and R. Bonezzi, U(N|M) Quantum Mechanics on Kähler Manifolds, JHEP 05 (2010) 020 [arXiv:1003.1046] [INSPIRE].
- [62] F. Bastianelli and R. Bonezzi, Quantum theory of massless (p,0)-forms, JHEP 09 (2011) 018
   [arXiv:1107.3661] [INSPIRE].
- [63] F. Bastianelli, R. Bonezzi and C. Iazeolla, Quantum theories of (p,q)-forms, JHEP 08 (2012) 045 [arXiv:1204.5954] [INSPIRE].
- [64] M. Reuter, Metaplectic spinor fields and global anomalies, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 10 (1995) 65 [INSPIRE].
- [65] J.P. Edwards and C. Schubert, *Quantum Mechanical Path Integrals in the First Quantised* Approach to Quantum Field Theory, in preparation (2018).
- [66] F. Bastianelli, O. Corradini and A. Zirotti, dimensional regularization for N = 1 supersymmetric σ-models and the worldline formalism, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 104009 [hep-th/0211134] [INSPIRE].
- [67] W. Bietenholz, J. Nishimura, Y. Susaki and J. Volkholz, A Non-perturbative study of 4-D U(1) non-commutative gauge theory: The Fate of one-loop instability, JHEP 10 (2006) 042 [hep-th/0608072] [INSPIRE].
- [68] A. Armoni, Comments on perturbative dynamics of noncommutative Yang-Mills theory, Nucl. Phys. B 593 (2001) 229 [hep-th/0005208] [INSPIRE].
- [69] R. Fresneda, D.M. Gitman and A.E. Shabad, Photon propagation in noncommutative QED with constant external field, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 085005 [arXiv:1501.04987] [INSPIRE].
- [70] D. D'Ascanio, P. Pisani and D.V. Vassilevich, Renormalization on noncommutative torus, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 180 [arXiv:1602.01479] [INSPIRE].
- [71] M.M. Sheikh-Jabbari, Renormalizability of the supersymmetric Yang-Mills theories on the noncommutative torus, JHEP 06 (1999) 015 [hep-th/9903107] [INSPIRE].
- [72] H. Grosse and R. Wulkenhaar, Renormalization of phi<sup>\*\*</sup>4 theory on noncommutative R<sup>2</sup> in the matrix base, JHEP 12 (2003) 019 [hep-th/0307017] [INSPIRE].
- [73] E. Langmann, R.J. Szabo and K. Zarembo, Exact solution of noncommutative field theory in background magnetic fields, Phys. Lett. B 569 (2003) 95 [hep-th/0303082] [INSPIRE].
- [74] E. Langmann, R.J. Szabo and K. Zarembo, Exact solution of quantum field theory on noncommutative phase spaces, JHEP 01 (2004) 017 [hep-th/0308043] [INSPIRE].
- [75] A. de Goursac, J.-C. Wallet and R. Wulkenhaar, Noncommutative Induced Gauge Theory, Eur. Phys. J. C 51 (2007) 977 [hep-th/0703075] [INSPIRE].
- [76] H. Grosse and M. Wohlgenannt, Induced gauge theory on a noncommutative space, Eur. Phys. J. C 52 (2007) 435 [hep-th/0703169] [INSPIRE].
- [77] J. Madore, S. Schraml, P. Schupp and J. Wess, Gauge theory on noncommutative spaces, Eur. Phys. J. C 16 (2000) 161 [hep-th/0001203] [INSPIRE].
- [78] A. de Goursac, T. Masson and J.-C. Wallet, Noncommutative epsilon-graded connections, J. Noncommut. Geom. 6 (2012) 343 [arXiv:0811.3567] [INSPIRE].
- [79] D.N. Blaschke, H. Grosse, E. Kronberger, M. Schweda and M. Wohlgenannt, Loop Calculations for the Non-Commutative U<sub>\*</sub>(1) Gauge Field Model with Oscillator Term, Eur. Phys. J. C 67 (2010) 575 [arXiv:0912.3642] [INSPIRE].
- [80] F. Bastianelli and A. Zirotti, Worldline formalism in a gravitational background, Nucl. Phys. B 642 (2002) 372 [hep-th/0205182] [INSPIRE].

- [81] F. Bastianelli, The Path integral for a particle in curved spaces and Weyl anomalies, Nucl. Phys. B 376 (1992) 113 [hep-th/9112035] [INSPIRE].
- [82] M.G. Schmidt and C. Schubert, Worldline Green functions for multiloop diagrams, Phys. Lett. B 331 (1994) 69 [hep-th/9403158] [INSPIRE].
- [83] N. Chair and M.M. Sheikh-Jabbari, Pair production by a constant external field in noncommutative QED, Phys. Lett. B 504 (2001) 141 [hep-th/0009037] [INSPIRE].
- [84] I. Riad and M.M. Sheikh-Jabbari, Noncommutative QED and anomalous dipole moments, JHEP 08 (2000) 045 [hep-th/0008132] [INSPIRE].
- [85] A. Ilderton, J. Lundin and M. Marklund, Strong Field, Noncommutative QED, SIGMA 6 (2010) 041 [arXiv:1003.4184] [INSPIRE].